
 
 

 

 
Meeting of:   

 
Audit and Governance Committee 

Date: Tuesday, 23rd June, 2020 
Time: 6.00 pm. 
Venue: Zoom Meeting 

 
This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by 
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

Item 
No. 

AGENDA Page No 

1   Apologies   

 To receive any apologies for absence.  

2   Minutes  3 - 5 

 To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Audit & Governance 

Committee held on 9 March 2020. 

 

3   Declarations of Interest   

 Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 

or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 

those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 

of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

 

4   Urgent Items of Business   

 To determine whether there are any additional items of business 

which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 

be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

 

5   Items for Exclusion of Public and Press   

 To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 

be excluded from the meeting. 

 

 

Public Document Pack



6   Counter Fraud Prosecutions and Sanctions Policy  6 - 25 

 To consider the attached report of the Head of Internal Audit  

7   Internal Audit Quarter 4 Report 2019/20  26 - 44 

 To consider the attached report of the Head of Internal Audit  

8   Internal Audit Annual Fraud Report 2019/20  45 - 65 

 To consider the attached report of the Head of Internal Audit  

9   Internal Audit Annual Report 2019/20  66 - 86 

 To consider the attached report of the Head of Internal Audit  

10   Risk Management Annual Report 2019/20  87 - 101 

 To consider the attached report of the Head of Risk  

1  FIELD_TITLE   

 FIELD_SUMMARY   

2  FIELD_TITLE   

 

Audit and Governance Committee Members 
Councillor Ali Ahmed Craig Ainsworth 
Councillor Sultan Ali Councillor James Gartside 
Councillor Aftab Hussain Councillor Peter Malcolm 
Councillor Donna Martin E Councillor Kathleen Nickson 
Councillor Aasim Rashid Jaime Sanderson 
Councillor Donna Williams  
 

For more information about this meeting, please contact  
Alison James 
 
01706 924829 
john.addison@rochdale.gov.uk 



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
Monday, 9 March 2020 

 
PRESENT: Councillors Sultan Ali (in the Chair), Ali Ahmed, Sultan, 
James Gartside, Hussain, Martin, Nickson and Williams. 
 
Craig Ainsworth (Independent Person); Jaime Sanderson (Independent 
Member) 
 
OFFICERS: D. Wilcock (Monitoring Officer), J. Murphy (Chief Finance 
Officer),  I. Corbridge (Head of Internal Audit), M. Nixon (Head of Risk), B. 
Jorgenson (Data Innovation & Intelligence Manager) and M. Garraway 
(Committees & Constitutional Services Manager) 
 
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Malcolm and Councillor Rashid 
 

37 APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR 
Resolved 
That Councillor Sultan Ali be appointed to Chair the meeting in the 
absence of the Chair and Vice Chair. 
 

38 MINUTES 
Resolved 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Audit & Governance Committee 
held on 8 January 2020 be approved as a correct record.. 
 

39 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

40 COUNCIL SIZE REPORT FOR THE ELECTORAL REVIEW OF ROCHDALE 
Consideration was given to a report of the Electoral Review Member Steering 
Group recommending the Committee authorises the report be presented to 
Council for approval of the Council Size Submission to the Local Government 
Boundary Commission for England. 
 
The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) was 
undertaking a review of Rochdale Borough Council’s local government 
electoral arrangements. The outcome of the review would be implemented for 
the 2022 Council elections.  As part of the process the Council has 
undertaken to agree a joint submission on its future size. 
 
The Council’s submission had been informed by reviewing Councillor’s 
meeting and decision-making commitments, casework loads, community 
engagement work, forecast population growth, engagement with all 
Councillors and comparisons to other local authorities.  
 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



Resolved 
That the Audit and Governance Committee recommends that Council 
approves the report for submission to the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England. 
 

41 EXTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY MEMORANDUM 2020 
The Council’s external auditors submitted their Audit Strategy Memorandum 
for the year ending 2020 for consideration by the Committee.  
  
In presenting the report, Members were advised on key factors including: 

 The scope of the audit and respective responsibilities of the Council 
and auditors; 

 Materiality thresholds in relation to the Council’s financial statements, 
including financial parameters for reporting minor errors to the 
Committee and the value which would require the auditors to issue a 
qualified opinion on the accounts; 

 Areas of risk, which were noted as being common to all local 
authorities; 

 The approach to value for money with particularly focus on Health and 
social care integration, financial pressures and the Councils response 
to the OFSTED inspection of children’s services. 

 
Members of the Committee raised questions and sought assurance on the 
management response to areas raised as concerns and detailed within 
section 5 of the submitted report.   

  
Resolved 
That the External Audit Strategy Memorandum for 2018-19 be noted. 
 

42 EXTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 
The Committee received a progress report from the Council’s external 
auditors, noting that the focus of their work had been around planning and 
preparation for the upcoming audit process.    
  
In response to a question on planning for the annual audit, Members were 
assured that there were no concerns around the prescribed timescales. 
  
Resolved 
That the report be noted 
 

43 INTERNAL AUDIT QUARTER 3 REPORT 2019/20 
Consideration was given to a report of the Head of Internal Audit summarising 
the work of the Internal Audit team during the third quarter of 2019/20. Internal 
Audit was able to provide either substantial or adequate assurance over the 
effectiveness of risk management in all the audits completed during the 
period. Furthermore, Internal Audit has completed 74% of the agreed Audit 
Plan which achieves the agreed target. 
 
The Counter Fraud Team achieved £63,372 in identifying savings and 
overpayments during the period (£172,758 for the 9 months ended 31 

Page 4



December 2019) together with two sanctions comprising of one caution and 
one fine for fraud. 
 
Resolved 
That the report be noted. 
 

44 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2020/21 
Consideration was given to a report of the Head of Internal Audit seeking 
approval of the proposed Internal Audit Plan for 2020/21 which had been 
developed in accordance with the Internal Audit Charter and with close liaison 
with both the Leadership Team and Senior Management to identify and 
evaluate the key areas of risk. 
 
The Internal Audit Plan helps the Council accomplish its objectives by bringing 
a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness 
of risk management, control and governance processes. The focus of Internal 
Audit work includes the financial systems, operational and management 
controls and also includes risk management and corporate governance as a 
contribution to the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources. 
 
Resolved 
That approval be given to the Internal Audit Plan 2020/21. 
 

45 RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRESS REPORT - Q3 2019/20 
Consideration was given to a report by the Head of Risk summarising Risk 
Management and Insurance work during Quarter 3 of the 2019/20 year. 
 
The report highlighted updates on project plans to implement improvements to 
the Pentana software system and the latest developments on management of 
priority risks under Integrated Health and Social Care services. 
 
Members were informed that the Insurance Team achieved a claims cost 
mitigation figure of £252,661.78 for the claims closed in the quarter. Cyber 
Insurance has been procured for the Council to provide cover for legal liability, 
costs and response services required in the unlikely event of a data breach 
incident. 
 
Resolved 
That the report be noted. 
 

Page 5



 

Report to Audit and Governance Committee 
 

 

Date of Meeting 23rd June 2020 
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Resources 
Report Author Ian Corbridge 
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

Counter Fraud Prosecutions and Sanctions Policy 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1.1 The Counter Fraud Prosecution and Sanctions Policy brings together a range 

of legislation which provides a full range of sanctions, penalties and 
prosecution available to the Council to support an effective deterrent regime 
against fraud and corruption. This forms part of the wider Anti-Fraud and 
Corruption Policy. 

 
1.2 

 
The Policy has now been updated to include processes to respond to the risk 
of blue badge fraud and is now presented to the Audit and Governance 
Committee for review and consideration. This is in the context of their power to 
review the adequacy of the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy, and related 
policies and procedures, to ensure their application and effectiveness. 

 

Recommendation 

 
2. To recommend that Cabinet approve the updated Counter Fraud Prosecution 

and Sanctions Policy. 
 
 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3. This is in the context of power of the Audit and Governance Committee to 

review the adequacy of the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy, and related 
policies and procedures, to ensure their application and effectiveness to 
support the Council’s counter fraud activities. 
 

 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4.1 
 
 
 

The Counter Fraud Prosecution and Sanctions Policy brings together a range 
of legislation which provides a full range of sanctions, penalties and 
prosecution available to the Council to support an effective deterrent regime 
against fraud and corruption. The current Policy, which forms part of the 

Page 6

Agenda Item 6



 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.6 
 
 
 
 
 
4.7 

Council’s wider Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy, was last approved by 
Cabinet on 11 July 2016. The Policy was revised at that time to reflect 
changes brought about by the migration of housing benefit fraud investigations 
to the DWP, as part of the creation of the Single Fraud Investigation Service.  
 
The Counter Fraud Team within Finance has operated to this Policy in the 
prevention, detection, deterrence and investigation of revenues and benefits 
fraud. To support this activity there are various legislative powers available to 
the Council to actively consider applying sanctions and/ or prosecutions in all 
cases of fraud. The relevant legislation is referenced in the Policy. 
 

The Disabled Persons’ Parking Badge Scheme was introduced in 1972, under 
Section 21 of the Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970.  Under this 
scheme if you or a child you care for is disabled or has a health condition 
which affects your mobility, you can apply for a Blue Badge. You can also 
apply for a Blue Badge if you suffer from a hidden disability.  However, it is 
against the law to use a cancelled, expired, fake or deceased persons Blue 
Badge, to use a Blue Badge without the badge holder present or to obtain a 
blue badge through providing false information.  The Counter Fraud Team 
have the power to investigate under these circumstances. 
 

Presently, the majority of the Blue Badge fraud referrals received are from the 
general public or the Revenues and Benefits Blue Badge Team. To capture 
more Blue Badge fraud within the Rochdale Borough, the Counter Fraud 
Team would like to work alongside the traffic wardens. The new Blue Badge 
Policy outlines how this will be done, as well as explaining any action that can 
be taken if a Blue Badge fraud has been committed.  This will now form part of 
the Counter Fraud Prosecution and Sanction Policy.  
 
Due to the current COVID-19 situation there may be a delay on initiating the 
work with the traffic wardens. In addition, guidance produced by the British 
Parking Association, London Councils and Local Government Association has 
been issued to Local Authorities regarding penalty charge notices. There is an 
acceptance there may be delays on renewing Blue Badge applications and 
therefore it is recommended penalty charge notices are not given to those 
displaying a Blue Badge with an expiry date of 1st January 2020 onwards. This 
will be reviewed on 30th September 2020. 
 
The revised Policy is attached as Appendix 1 with the main areas of change 
highlighted in red. The main changes are in Section 12 associated with the 
approach to blue badge fraud. 
 
Alternatives Considered 
 
In view of the above, no other alternatives were considered. 

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. The Policy provides a clear framework with regard to sanctions and 

prosecutions to enable the Service to protect funds that it administers. There 
are no direct financial implications arising from this Policy.  

Page 7



 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6. The lack of a Counter Fraud Prosecution & Sanctions Policy would expose 

the Council to the risk of not being able to effectively combat fraud and 
corruption. 
 
 

Consultation 

 
7. The new Policy has been shared and discussed with stakeholders including 

RBC Legal, Parking Enforcement, Revenues and Benefits Blue Badge Team 
and Internal Audit. They are all satisfied with the amended policy to include 
detail on Blue Badge investigations. Advice has also been sought from other 
Greater Manchester Counter Fraud Teams, who have adopted a similar 
approach. 
 

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8. None   

 

For Further Information Contact: Ian Corbridge, Tel: 01706925452, 
ian.corbridge@rochdale.gov.uk 

 

Page 8



 

Counter Fraud  
Prosecution &  
Sanctions Policy 

[Subject] 
 

 

Page 9



 
 
 
 
 

Counter Fraud Prosecution & Sanctions Policy 

rochdale.gov.uk 1 

Document Control 

 

Document Title: Counter Fraud Prosecution & Sanctions Policy 
 
Summary 
 

Publication Date May 2020 

Related Legislation / Applicable Section 
of Legislation 

Local Government Finance Act 1992  
Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Detection of Fraud and 
Enforcement) (England) Regulations 2013 
Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984  
The Welfare Reform Act 2012  
The Social Security Administration Act 1992  
Social Security (Loss of Benefit) Regulations 2001 
The Fraud Act 2006 
Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970 
Disabled Persons’ Parking Badges Act 
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984,   
Forgery and Counterfeiting Act 1981  

Related Policies, Strategies, Guideline 
Documents 

Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy  

Replaces Counter Fraud Prosecution & Sanction Policy January 2018 

Joint Policy (Yes/No) No 

Name of Partner(s) if joint N/A 

Policy Owner (Name/Position) Louise Steel (Counter Fraud Team Leader) 

Policy Author (Name/Position) Louise Steel (Counter Fraud Team Leader) 

Applies to All Members and officers 

 
 

Review of Strategy 
 

Last Review Date May 2020 

Review undertaken by 
Louise Steel (Counter Fraud Team Leader) and Ian Corbridge 
(Head of Internal Audit) 

Next Review Date May 2022 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



 
 
 
 
 

Counter Fraud Prosecution & Sanctions Policy 

rochdale.gov.uk 2 

 
 
 
 

Document Approvals 
 
This document requires the following approvals. 
 

Name Title Date of Issue Version Number 

Louise Steel 
Counter Fraud Team 
Leader  

12th May 2020  

Ian Corbridge Head of Internal Audit  13th May 2020  

    

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



 
 
 
 
 

Counter Fraud Prosecution & Sanctions Policy 

rochdale.gov.uk 3 

 

Counter Fraud Prosecution & Sanctions Policy 
 

1. Introduction 
1.1 There are over 94,500 residential properties within the Borough which attract a Council Tax charge. 
Rochdale Borough Council provides residents with the opportunity to apply for discounts and exemptions 
on their Council Tax, as well as the option to claim Local Council Tax Support. Government changes 
abolished Council Tax Benefit at the end of March 2013 and introduced Council Tax Reduction schemes for 
Local Authorities. Rochdale Borough Council’s scheme has been called Local Council Tax Support and 
currently administers support to over 21,500 claimants. In addition, there are also 8,000 properties within 
the Borough which attract a Business Rates charge. The Council is also responsible for the administration 
of Blue Badge applications, Direct Payments and Personal Budgets and Disability Grants. 
 
1.2 The Council is committed to providing these services in a professional manner and is aware of the high 
risk from fraud and error, and the necessity to protect the public purse from abuse. Rochdale Borough 
Council is committed to protecting public funds through the prevention, detection, deterrence and 
investigation of fraud. This includes: 

 Fraud in the commercial rented sector; 

 Fraud by Owner/Occupiers; 

 Local Council Tax Support fraud linked to Income Support, income based Job Seekers Allowance 
and other State Benefits; 

 Blue Badge Fraud; 

 Adult Care Fraud (Social Care); 

 Council Tax Discounts and Exemptions; 

 Disability Grants; 

 Business Rate Fraud; and 

 Tenancy Fraud.  
 
1.3 The Council recognises that prosecution, the use of Administrative Penalties as defined by the Fraud 
Act 1997, the issuing of Local Authority Formal Cautions and Fraud Penalties as defined in the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 2013 are an essential part 
of this commitment and have a key role to play in deterring offenders. 
 
1.4 Where the Council believes that there are grounds to suspect that a criminal offence may have been 
committed, an interview under caution will be carried out in accordance with the Police and Criminal 
Evidence Act 1984, to determine the correct circumstances. Interviews under caution will only be carried 
out if there is a definite possibility that further action will be taken. 
 
1.5 If sufficient evidence is established, the case will be referred to the Counter Fraud Team Leader before 
any further action is initiated. The Counter Fraud Team Leader will review all of the evidence available and 
decide on the appropriate course of action to be taken. 
 
1.6 If prosecution appears to the Counter Fraud Team Leader be appropriate, the case will be investigated, 
a disclosure officer appointed and a file prepared as a formal file with witness statements, exhibits and 
unused material not intended to be used as evidence. This will be referred to legal services who will then 
make the formal decision to prosecute in accordance with the Prosecution of Offences Act and the Code for 
Crown prosecutors.  
 
1.7 If the investigating officer requires legal advice on the progress of the investigation and sufficiency of 
evidence prior to the formal file being submitted to the solicitor then it is prudent for the Counter Fraud 

Page 12



 
 
 
 
 

Counter Fraud Prosecution & Sanctions Policy 

rochdale.gov.uk 4 

Team to either seek advice in writing or to arrange a meeting after submitting to the solicitor such evidence 
as has been obtained so far.  
 
1.8 Each individual case will be considered on its own merits, although a full set of criteria has been 
established as to when a prosecution will be considered and when it will not. Investigators will assess all 
cases in the light of these criteria before developing the case for further action. 
 

2. Prosecution Criteria 
2.1 The four main areas affecting the decision on whether a prosecution should be considered or not are as 
follows: 
 
2.2 Amount and Period of Fraud 
2.2.1 Where the fraudulent activity has not resulted in a significant financial gain to the claimant, 
prosecution is less likely to be considered appropriate. This does not necessarily rule out all low value 
cases. If it appears that the fraud was systematic and a deliberate attempt to gain money by deception or 
the fraud is discovered after a relatively short space of time and a significant financial gain could have 
occurred had it continued, then prosecution proceedings may still be considered. 
 
2.2.2 If clear evidence of fraud has been established but the loss to the Authority is not a significant 
amount, i.e. the amount of the fraud is less than the cost of prosecution proceedings would be, then a 
Formal Caution or Financial Fraud penalty may be considered in cases of Local Council Tax Support fraud. 
However, if the claimant refuses to accept a Financial Penalty or Formal Caution then a prosecution will be 
pursued. 
 
2.2.3 One clear factor to take into consideration will be the length of time that the fraud has continued. If the 
deception has continued for a number of years then the financial value will not be as important, as clearly 
the offender will have had ample opportunity to declare the correct circumstances. 
 
2.3 Physical/Mental Health Factors 
2.3.1 Prosecution will not be pursued where it is considered that physical or mental health issues have 
contributed to the reasons for committing the offence. Furthermore, we will not pursue cases where there is 
clear evidence to suggest that the health problems of the claimant, partner or a third party (e.g. a child), 
would be severely adversely affected by our action. 
 
2.3.2 Obvious examples of physical or mental health issues include severe medical conditions, any threat / 
suspicion of suicide, infirm or bedridden individuals, or individuals with learning difficulties or perceived / 
known impairment to their mental health. Confirmation of these conditions would need to be obtained, such 
as checking with their doctor or carer and well-trained members of staff would sensitively handle this. 
 
2.4 Insufficient Evidence 
2.4.1 The Council has the burden of proof and must prove all elements of any offence beyond reasonable 
doubt. Prosecution proceedings will not be considered if there is any doubt in the evidence that has been 
gathered. 
 
2.5 Failure in Administration 
2.5.1 It should be evident on the file in relation to the questioning of offenders, that all procedures have 
been adhered to with regard to satisfying the conditions of the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984. 
 
2.5.2 If an investigation is flawed in any way, or there has been any unacceptable delay in the course of 
enquiries, then the case would not be of sufficient standard to be considered for prosecution. 
 

Page 13



 
 
 
 
 

Counter Fraud Prosecution & Sanctions Policy 

rochdale.gov.uk 5 

2.6 In addition to the above criteria, the following factors will also be considered when deciding whether 
prosecution action is appropriate: 

 Any previous Financial Fraud Penalties, Administrative Penalties, Formal Cautions or Fraud 
convictions; 

 The level of deliberate intent, e.g. if evidence submitted in support of a claim appears to have been 
deliberately falsified or altered; 

 The involvement of a collusive employer or landlord – these will be regarded as serious fraud and 
prosecution may be appropriate irrespective of the amount of overpayment; and 

 Whether or not the offender is in a position of trust e.g. a Local Authority employee or an Elected 
Member. Disciplinary proceedings may also be initiated for employees that are found to be in breach 
of the Council’s Code of Conduct for Employees. 

 
2.7 Offences of a serious nature e.g. involving systematic abuse may be referred to the Police. 
 
2.8 The Council may report successful prosecution cases to the media and formal press releases may be 
issued to act as a deterrent. 
 

3. Formal Caution 
3.1 A Formal Caution is an oral warning (of which a written record is made), given in certain circumstances 
to a person who has committed an offence. 
 
3.2 A caution can only be considered when: 

 there is sufficient evidence to justify instituting criminal proceedings; 

 the person has admitted the offence during an interview under caution and agrees to the caution; 

 there are no previous convictions or cautions for fraud; and 

 there was no other person involved in the fraud. 
 
3.3 If the person is subsequently prosecuted for another fraud offence, the caution may be cited in court.
   
 

4. Local Council Tax Support Fraud Penalties as an alternative to prosecution 
4.1 From 1st April 2013 Regulation 11 of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Detection of Fraud and 
Enforcement) (England) Regulations 2013, introduced penalties as an alternative to prosecution in cases of 
Local Council Tax Support fraud. 
 
4.2 A Penalty as an alternative to prosecution will only be considered where there is sufficient evidence to 
justify the prosecution of an offence, where the offence is not so serious and where the overpayment is low 
enough that it would not be in the public interest to prosecute. 
 
4.3 If a person enters into a Fraud Financial Penalty hey will be required to pay a penalty to the Council in 
addition to repaying the overpayment. The penalty will be collected at the same time as the overpayment. 
The Service will recover overpayments and penalties in accordance with any relevant legislation but in 
doing so will not place any one in hardship. 
 
4.4 The amount of the Penalty is to be £100 where a fraudulent Local Council Tax Support claim could 
have resulted in a reduction of Council Tax, to which the person was not entitled.  
 
4.5 The amount of Penalty is to be 50% of the amount of the excess reduction. This applies to cases where 
there is a minimum overpayment of £100: The maximum fine being £1,000.   
 

Page 14



 
 
 
 
 

Counter Fraud Prosecution & Sanctions Policy 

rochdale.gov.uk 6 

4.6 The Penalty is payable in addition to the overpayment and is recoverable by the same methods as 
those by which the overpayment is recoverable. 
 
4.7 Failure to repay the debt or default on instalments will result in civil proceedings being taken, although 
regard will be given to the claimant’s financial circumstances. 
 

5. Working in Partnership with other Agencies 
5.1 The Council may investigate cases involving state benefits with agreement from the Department for 
Works and Pensions, or jointly with them. 
 
5.2 Where necessary, the Council will also work closely with other organisations such as the Police, Home 
Office, HM Revenues & Customs and other local authorities in order to develop and promote an anti-fraud 
culture and to further prevent, detect and deter benefit fraud. In this respect, the Counter Fraud 
Investigators now form part of the Partnership Enforcement Team (PET) based at Rochdale Police Station, 
along with investigators and enforcement officers from other functions and organisations.  The PET 
facilitates the sharing of knowledge, skills and powers to support joint investigations and prosecutions with 
a view to achieving more effective outcomes.   
 

6. Civil Penalties for Incorrect Statements – Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
6.1 Regulation 12 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) 
2013 allows Rochdale Borough Council to impose a penalty of £70 where an incorrect statement or 
representation has been made. 
 
6.2 The £70 penalty can only be imposed where a person has not been charged with a Local Council Tax 
Support offence or been offered a Formal Caution or Financial Penalty under regulation 11 of the Council 
Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 2013. 
 

7. Civil Penalties for failing to notify a change of circumstances – Local Council Tax 
Support Scheme 
7.1 Regulation 13 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) 
2013 allows Rochdale Borough Council to impose a penalty of £70 where without reasonable excuse; there 
is a failure to report a relevant change of circumstances promptly. 
 
7.2 The £70 penalty can only be imposed where a person has not been charged with a Local Council Tax 
Support offence or been offered a Formal Caution or Financial Penalty under regulation 11 of the Council 
Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 2013. 
 

8. Civil Penalties for failure to supply information – Council Tax 
8.1 Schedule 3 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 allows Rochdale Borough Council to impose a 
penalty of £70 where a person fails to comply with certain requirements as to the supply of information. 
 
8.2 A penalty can be imposed on any person who – 

 has been requested by the Council to supply information to identify the liable person for Council Tax 
and has failed to supply this information; or 

 has knowingly supplied information, with regard to identifying the liable person, which is inaccurate 
in a material particular; or 

 has failed, without reasonable excuse, to notify the Council that the dwelling will not be, or was no 
longer an exempt dwelling; or 

 has failed, without reasonable excuse, to notify the Council that the chargeable amount is not 
subject to a discount, or is subject to a discount of a lesser amount 

 

Page 15



 
 
 
 
 

Counter Fraud Prosecution & Sanctions Policy 

rochdale.gov.uk 7 

9. SFIS – Single Fraud Investigation Service   
9.1 The Welfare Reform Act 2012 has introduced a Single Fraud Investigation Service (SFIS); this is 
governed by the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP). All investigators operating under SFIS will 
investigate all Social Security Benefit Fraud including Universal Credit, Housing Benefit and historic Council 
Tax Benefit, as well as Tax Credit Fraud.  SFIS investigators will adhere to the Prosecution Policy laid down 
by DWP. 
 
9.2 Local Authorities are responsible for the investigation of all other fraud including Local Council Tax 
Support, Council Tax Discounts and Exemptions, Disability Grants, Adult Care Fraud, Tenancy Fraud, Blue 
Badge Fraud, Business Rates Fraud. 
 
9.3 Local Authorities will still be responsible for the authorisation of any Housing Benefit and historic 
Council Tax Benefit Administrative Penalties. 
 

10. Administrative Penalty 
10.1 The Social Security Administration Act 1992 provides that Councils may offer an Administrative 
Penalty (a fixed penalty fine) as an alternative to prosecution in cases of Housing Benefit and Council Tax 
Benefit Fraud. 
 
10.2 The offer of an Administration Penalty may be made where there is sufficient evidence to justify the 
prosecution of an offence, where the offence is not so serious and where the overpayment is low enough 
that it would not be in the public interest to prosecute. 
 
10.3 Administrative Penalties will only be offered in cases where it is clear that the offender can afford to 
pay a penalty. 
 
10.4 An Administrative Penalty can be offered in respect of an overpayment or part overpayment that 
accrued after the date the power to offer a penalty came into force.  In the case of any employer, this is 30th 
April 2002 and in all other cases, 18th December 1997. 
 
10.5 If a person enters into an Administrative Penalty Agreement they will be required to pay a penalty to 
the Council in addition to repaying the overpayment. The penalty will be collected at the same time as the 
overpayment. The level of penalty depends on the offence and the date the offence was committed. 
 
10.6 For offences committed wholly on or after 1 April 2015, overpayments from £0.01 to £700 can incur a 
penalty of £350.  For overpayments over £700 the penalty is 50% of the overpayment, up to a maximum 
penalty of £5,000. The maximum penalty of £5,000 will only be offered in exceptional circumstances. The 
cooling off period is 14 days. 
 
10.7 The Welfare Reform Act 2012 amended sections 115A and 115B of the Social Security Administration 
Act 1992 and a minimum penalty applies where an offence is committed wholly on or after 8th May 2012. 
 
10.8 The penalty will be equivalent to £350 or 50% of any recoverable overpayment that has been 
fraudulently received, whichever is greater (up to a maximum penalty of £2,000). 
 
10.9 A penalty of £350 applies where attempted fraud is committed on or after 8th April 2012, but the fraud 
is stopped before any overpayment of benefit has been made. 
 
10.10 For offences committed before 8th May 2012, or where the offence spans the 8th May 2012, a penalty 
equivalent to 30% of any recoverable overpayment that may have been fraudulently received will apply. 
 

Page 16



 
 
 
 
 

Counter Fraud Prosecution & Sanctions Policy 

rochdale.gov.uk 8 

10.11 The Administrative Penalty is payable in addition to the overpayment and is recoverable by the same 
methods as those by which the overpayment is recoverable. 
 
10.12 Failure to repay the debt or default on instalments will result in civil proceedings being taken, 
although regard will be given to the claimant’s financial circumstances. 
 
10.13 In the case of an employer, the amount of the penalty is based on the circumstances of the offence. 
 

11. Loss of Benefit Provision 
11.1 The Welfare Reform Act 2012 contains a new loss of benefit provision effective from April 2013. These 
provisions are designed to strengthen and toughen the existing loss of benefit provision for benefit fraud 
offences introduced from April 2010 known as “one strike”. 
 
11.2 If a claimant accepts an Administrative Penalty or Formal Caution as an alternative to prosecution, any 
social security benefit they receive now or in the future may be the subject of a four week loss of benefit 
provision in accordance with the Social Security (Loss of Benefit) Regulations 2001, as amended by the 
Social Security (Loss of Benefit) Amendment Regulations 2010 and now amended by the Welfare Reform 
Act 2012. 
 
11.3 Offences which result in a first conviction for benefit Fraud may be subject to the 13 week loss of 
benefit provision for any social security benefit they receive now or in the future in accordance with the 
Social Security (Loss of Benefit) Regulations 2001, as amended by the Social Security (Loss of Benefit) 
Amendment Regulations 2010 and now amended by the Welfare Reform Act 2012. 
 
11.4 Two offences of benefit fraud which are committed within a set period, the second offence resulting in 
a conviction may be subject to the 26 week loss of benefit provision for any social security benefit they 
receive now or in the future in accordance with the Social Security (Loss of Benefit) Regulations 2001, as 
amended by the Social Security (Loss of Benefit) Amendment Regulations 2010 and now amended by the 
Welfare Reform Act 2012. 
 
11.5 A conviction involving a serious case of organised benefit or identity fraud will be subjected to a 3 year 
loss of benefit. In addition three offences of benefit Fraud committed, the third resulting in a conviction may 
be the subject of a 3 year loss of benefit now or in the future in accordance with the Social Security (Loss of 
Benefit) Regulations 2001, as amended by the Social Security (Loss of Benefit) Amendment Regulations 
2010 and now amended by the Welfare Reform Act 2012. 

  
12. Blue Badge Fraud  
 
12.1 The Disabled Persons’ Parking Badge Scheme was introduced in 1972, under Section 21 of the 
Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970.  Under this scheme if you or a child you care for is 
disabled or has a health condition which affects your mobility, you can apply for a Blue Badge. You may 
also be eligible for a Blue Badge if you suffer from a hidden illness such as stress, anxiety or other mental 
health issues. However, it is against the law to use a cancelled, expired, fake or deceased persons Blue 
Badge, to use a Blue Badge without the badge holder present or to obtain a blue badge through providing 
false information.  The Counter Fraud Team will investigate any such fraud allegations received.  
 
12.2 During the course of their daily duties, Rochdale Borough Council Civil Enforcement Officers may 
witness Blue Badge Fraud. Should this happen, the incident will be recorded on their body camera, 
electronic hand held device or pocket notebook. The Civil Enforcement Officer will then issue a penalty 
charge notice and/or send a fraud referral, with all evidence, to the Counter Fraud Team. 
 

Page 17



 
 
 
 
 

Counter Fraud Prosecution & Sanctions Policy 

rochdale.gov.uk 9 

12.3 Counter Fraud Investigators have been authorised to inspect and retain a blue badge under the 
Disabled Persons’ Parking Badges Act 2013 under the following circumstances:  If it is fake, has already 
been cancelled (due to the badge being reported as lost or stolen), has expired and should have been 
returned or is being misused without the holder being present.   Please see website 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/244810/b
lue-badge-enforcement-changes.pdf 
 
12.4 If there is sufficient evidence that an offence under Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984,  Forgery and 
Counterfeiting Act 1981 or the Fraud Act 2006, may have been committed: The alleged offender may be 
asked to attend an interview under caution or may be sent a written interview under caution to complete.  
 
12.4 If it is decided criminal action is not appropriate, a warning letter may be sent to the alleged offender 
and Blue Badge holder.  Whilst this list is not exhaustive, examples could include;  

- Not being in the public interest to pursue criminally;  

- Misuse of the blue badge occurred due to a genuine mistake; 

- The person committing the offence would be eligible for a blue badge in their own right; and 

- Health problems that would be severely adversely affected by criminal action.  

 
12.5 A warning letter should not be sent if a letter has previous been sent to the alleged offender or Blue 
Badge holder.  In such circumstances the matter should be considered for prosecution. 
 
12.6 If there is sufficient evidence of an offence prosecution proceedings will be considered if one or more 
of the following apply: 

- There is a realistic prospect of a conviction from the evidence gathered;  

- It is deemed to be in the public interest; 

- The badge has been misused on one or more occasions;  

- There are no serious aggravating health factors;  

- The level of deliberate intent; 

- Fraud of a similar nature has previously been committed; 

- The person fails to respond or attend an interview under caution; and  

- The person is in a position of trust, e.g. Council employee or councillor. 

 
12.7 A caution maybe considered as an alternative to prosecution proceedings if: 

- There are serious aggravating health factors;  

- The person has admitted the offence during an interview under caution;  

- The badge was misused on no more than one occasion and there was no deliberate attempt;  

- There are no previous warning letters or sanctions issued; and 

- There are no previous convictions. 

 
12.8 The above list are not exhaustive and each case will be judge on its own merits. 
 
12.9   This policy should be read in conjunction with the Council’s Counter Fraud Prosecution & Sanctions 
Policy.  If there is a conflict between the Council’s blue badge fraud policy and any other policy, the 
Council’s blue badge fraud policy will take precedent in relation to blue badge fraud. 
 
12.10. For further information regarding the Blue Badge scheme, please refer to  
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/social-care-and-support/Pages/blue-badges.aspx 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/blue-badge-scheme 
 

 

Page 18

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/244810/blue-badge-enforcement-changes.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/244810/blue-badge-enforcement-changes.pdf
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/social-care-and-support/Pages/blue-badges.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/blue-badge-scheme


 
 
 
 
 

Counter Fraud Prosecution & Sanctions Policy 

rochdale.gov.uk 10 

13. Conclusion 
13.1 The Council will seek to deter fraud via the pursuit of prosecution or the imposition of Financial 
Penalties and Formal Cautions in cases where all the criteria has been met. The criteria that have been 
established are designed to ensure that the correct cases are brought to court, and that the Council acts in 
a positive way to actively deter the genuine and deliberate fraudster. 
 
 
  

Page 19



 
 
 
 
 

Counter Fraud Prosecution & Sanctions Policy 

rochdale.gov.uk 11 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Rochdale Borough Council 

Number One Riverside 

Smith Street 

Rochdale OL16 1YH 

 

  rochdale.gov.uk 

  01706 647474 

  council@rochdale.gov.uk 

Page 20



1 
 

 

APPENDIX  

Equality Impact Assessment 

  

What are you assessing?  Please tick the appropriate box below. 

 

Function Strategy Policy Project Other, please specify below 

   

 

  

 

 

Service: 

Resources 

Section:  

Finance – Internal Audit 

Responsible Officer: 

Ian Corbridge 

Name of function/strategy/ policy/ project assessed: 

Counter Fraud Prosecution & Sanctions Policy 

Date of Assessment: 

12th May 2020 

Officers Involved: 

Ian Corbridge 

Louise Steele 

 

1.What is the purpose of the function/strategy/policy/project assessed? 

(Briefly describe the aims, objectives and purpose of the function/strategy/policy/project) 

The lack of a Counter Fraud Prosecution and Sanctions Policy would expose the Council to the risk of not 

being able to effectively combat fraud and corruption in relation to the activities of the Council. The Policy 

brings together a range of legislation which provides a full range of sanctions, penalties and prosecution 

available to council’s to support an effective deterrent regime. 

Page 21



2 
 

2.Who are the key stakeholders? 

Residents of the Borough  

Members 

RBC Officers including Counter Fraud, Revenues and Benefits Blue Badge Team, Parking Enforcement, Legal Litigation 

Team  

 

3. What is the scope of this equality impact assessment? That is, what is included in this 

assessment.   

The scope considers the impact on all key stakeholders which extends to all residents of the Borough and all existing 

legislation supporting this area. 

4. Which needs is this function/strategy/ policy/ project designed to meet? 

This Policy supports the need for an effective deterrent regime against fraud which underpins the Council’s zero-

tolerance culture against fraud. 

5. Has a needs analysis been undertaken? 

A needs analysis identified the requirement to have a clearly started policy for all the sanctions available should fraud 

be identified to act as a deterrent and hopefully prevent frauds occurring to the detriment of the Council and all the 

residents of the Borough. 

6.Who is affected by this function/strategy/ policy/ project? 

The effect of this Policy extends to all residents of the Borough as well as all Members and officers and 

supports the work of the Counter Fraud Team.  

7.Who has been involved in the review or development of this function/strategy/ policy/ project and 

who has been consulted?  State your consultation/involvement methodology. 

The Policy was drafted in consultation with senior representatives from Revenues and Benefits, Finance and Legal 

Services and members of the Welfare and Taxation Reform Board, including representatives from adult care, public 

health and social landlords.  

The current update by Counter Fraud has included discussions and comments from Legal – Litigation Team, Revenues 

and Benefits Blue Badge Team, Parking Enforcement and Internal Audit  

8.What data have you considered for this assessment and have any gaps in the data been identified.  

What action will be taken to close any data gaps? 

This assessment and the development of this Policy has considered all relevant legislation and other related 

polices including the following: 

Local Government Finance Act 1992  

Page 22



3 
 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 2013 

Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984  

The Welfare Reform Act 2012  

The Social Security Administration Act 1992  

Social Security (Loss of Benefit) Regulations 2001 

The Fraud Act 2006 

Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970 

Disabled Persons’ Parking Badges Act 

Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984,   

Forgery and Counterfeiting Act 1981 

There are no known gaps in this assessment. 

9.Are there any other documents or strategies which are linked to this assessment? If so, please 

include hyperlinks to these documents below, where available. 

This Policy forms a key part of the Councils’ wider Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy 

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2019-11-05-anti-fraud-corruption-policy-v2.pdf 

 

 

10.What impact will this function/strategy/policy/project have on all the protected groups?  This 

includes both positive and potentially negative impacts. 

 

Race Equality  

This Policy impacts upon all residents of the Borough regardless of race. 

Disabled People 

This Policy impacts upon all residents of the Borough regardless of disability. 

Carers 

This Policy impacts upon all residents of the Borough regardless of their role or occupation. 

Gender 

This Policy impacts upon all residents of the Borough regardless of their gender. 

Page 23

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2019-11-05-anti-fraud-corruption-policy-v2.pdf


4 
 

Age 

This Policy impacts upon all residents of the Borough regardless of age. 

Armed Forces and Ex-Armed Forces Personnel 

This Policy impacts upon all residents of the Borough regardless of their role or occupation. 

Sexual Orientation 

This Policy impacts upon all residents of the Borough regardless of their sexual orientation. 

Gender Reassignment 

This Policy impacts upon all residents of the Borough regardless of their gender. 

Religion or Belief 

This Policy impacts upon all residents of the Borough regardless of their religion or beliefs. 

Pregnant Women or Those on Maternity Leave 

This Policy impacts upon all residents of the Borough and all employees of the Council regardless of their 

situation 

Marriage or Civil Partnership 

This Policy impacts upon all residents of the Borough regardless of their marital status 

11.What are your main conclusions from this analysis? 

The Policy impacts upon all employees of the Council and all residents of the Borough regardless of their 

situation and therefore no actions arise as a result of this assessment. 

12.What are your recommendations? 

As noted above, no actions arise as a result of this assessment. 

13.What actions are you going to take to address the findings of this assessment?  Please attach an 

action plan including details of designated officers responsible for completing these actions. 

As noted above, no actions arise as a result of this assessment. 

 

 

Signed (Completing Officer):  Louise Steele                                       Date:  12 May 2020 

Signed (Head of Service): Ian Corbridge                    Date:   12 May 2020 

 

  

Page 24



5 
 

Equality Impact Assessment Action Plan 2020/21 
 

 

Action Outcome Target Date For 
Completion 

Resource 
Implications 

Lead Officer 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

P
age 25



 

Report to Audit and Governance Committee 

 

 

Date of Meeting 23rd June 2020 
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Resources 
Report Author Ian Corbridge 
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

Internal Audit Quarter 4 Report 2019/20 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 

 
1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.2 

This report summarises the work of the Internal Audit team during the fourth 
quarter of 2019/20. Internal Audit was able to provide either substantial or 
adequate assurance over the effectiveness of risk management in all the 
audits completed during the period with exception of an audit of the Key 
Decision process within Adult Care and the audit of a primary school, both of 
which resulted in limited assurance audit opinions due to the weaknesses in 
various internal controls identified. Action plans have been agreed with 
management to address all the issues identified in a timely manner. 
Furthermore, Internal Audit has completed 96% of the agreed Audit Plan 
which achieves the agreed target for the year.  
 
The Counter Fraud Team achieved £47,709 in identifying savings and 
overpayments during the period (£220,467 for the year ended 31 March 2020) 
together with 2 sanctions comprising of 2 fines for fraud.  

 

Recommendation 

 
2. 

 
This report is for the information of the Members to confirm the level of 
assurance provided through Internal Audit work of the management of risk. 

 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3. This report is to enable the Audit and Governance Committee, in 

accordance with their work programme and overall responsibility for 
governance, to scrutinise Internal Audit coverage during the fourth quarter 
of 2019/20 on all Services within the Council. The work of RBC Internal 
Audit is governed by the UK Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 
 
 
 

Page 26

Agenda Item 7



Key Points for Consideration 

 
4. 
 
4.1  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.5 
 
 
 
 

Risk Based Audit Approach 
 

10. Internal Audit is responsible for providing an annual opinion on the 
internal control environment, risk management and governance 
processes for the Council as a whole, as set out within the Internal Audit 
Charter. A risk based approach is taken within individual audit reviews, 
embracing operational and management controls and the wider 
business risks. This allows an opinion to be expressed on risk 
identification and exposure and the adequacy of systems in place to 
manage those risks.  

 

In each Internal Audit report Internal Audit provides a clear audit assurance 
opinion on how effectively risks are being managed in the area under 
review. These opinions are as follows: 
 

Assurance 
Opinion 

 Explanation 

Limited  
A number of key risks are not managed effectively. 
The control systems in operation are in need of 
significant improvement. 

Adequate  
The control systems in operation are generally 
sound. However, opportunities exist to improve the 
management of some risks. 

Substantial  
There is a sound system of control in operation to 
manage risks effectively. 

 
In terms of the Internal Audit follow up process to provide Members with 
the assurance that agreed recommendations have been implemented on a 
timely basis, any ‘red’ reports on which we can provide only limited 
assurance will be highlighted within section 6 of this report. These will be 
subject to specific discussion and challenge by Members with senior 
officers from the relevant Service. Thereafter, Internal Audit will perform a 
formal follow up audit within a six month period or sooner if the due date for 
completing the agreed actions is earlier and report back to the Audit and 
Governance Committee with our findings. 
 
In terms of any ‘adequate’ or ‘substantial’ assurance opinions, all high and 
medium priority actions will be followed up by Internal Audit to confirm 
completion once the due dates have passed. Any delays in implementation 
will be reported to the Committee for further consideration. If some of the 
recommendations have not yet been actioned, Internal Audit will request 
reasons for the delay and confirmation of a revised date by which the 
action should be completed.  
 
The current status of the implementation of audit recommendations as 
confirmed by formal follow up audits is highlighted within Appendix B and 
any key issues will be highlighted to the Members. Whilst in some cases 
implementation has not been achieved by the originally agreed dates, 
Internal Audit has received reasonable explanations to support the delays 

Page 27



 
 
 
4.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5 
 
5.1 
 
 
 
 
6 
 
 
 
 
 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.3 
 
 
 
 
 
6.4 
 
 

incurred and will continue to monitor progress through to the revised dates 
proposed by management.  
 
Draft reports are issued to management with the requirement that formal 
responses to recommendations raised are received within one month of 
the issue date. Internal Audit actively follows up with management via an 
escalation process to ensure that the reports and actions are agreed in a 
timely manner. At present, there are no draft reports where responses are 
still outstanding beyond the agreed period. 
 
Planned Work Completed During Quarter Four 
 
Appendix A contains the details of planned audit reviews completed 
during quarter four which had an ‘adequate’ or ‘substantial’ assurance 
opinion. Key areas for improvement are summarised for each audit with 
a specific focus on any agreed actions designated as high priority. 
 
Audit Reviews with ‘Limited’ assurance opinions and Follow Up 
Audits 
 
Key Decisions and Exemptions from Contract Procedure Rules 
  (Director – Adult Social Care) 
 
Officers undertaking commissioning must have regard to the Council’s 
Constitution, including Contract Procedure Rules, which provide the 
governance structure for the Council to procure goods, works and services. 
With reference to the overarching statutory regulations which dictate the 
process for any expenditure designated as a Key Decision, Rochdale’s 
Constitution defines a Key Decision as expenditure which is in excess of 
£500k or is not provided for within the budget, together with various other 
criteria. 
 
A Key Decision may not be taken unless 28 clear days’ Notice has been 
given of the intention to take a Key Decision, and this Notice should be 
available for inspection at the Council’s offices and on the website. This 
ensures that the public and those Members of the Council not on the 
Cabinet are aware of Key Decisions, and allows Members of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee to determine items for consideration. In other 
words it forms a key part of stakeholder engagement within the decision 
making process for significant contracts and this is underpinned by 
statutory regulations. 
 
A request was made by Adult Care management to provide assurance that 
Council policies and procedures are being complied with in respect of 
contract exemptions and that the Key Decision Framework is being 
adhered to. The audit focused on a sample of exemptions, modifications 
and Project Initiation Documents within Adult Care. 
 
The results of the audit concluded that the Adult Care service did not 
comply with statutory regulations and Council Constitution on taking Key 
Decisions due to a significant value of expenditure within Adult Care not 

Page 28



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
6.7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.8 
 
 
 
 

 

being designated as a Key Decision. This area of non-compliance is 
focused on access to information for Councillors and members of the public 
in relation to such Key Decisions. This therefore leads to an impairment of 
overall transparency of the proposed procurement process to Councillors 
and inhibits the potential for challenge or call in through the scrutiny 
process. 
 
Additional audit work was then undertaken to review all contracts over the 
past 3 years which may have fallen within the definition of a Key Decision. 
This confirmed that non-compliance with the Key Decision process was not 
confined to Adult and Public Health Services but did extend to other 
Directorates. However the audit did confirm that no significant issues were 
identified in relation to other elements of key governance processes within 
the procurement processes reviewed by Internal Audit. 
 
In order to address the issues identified, management developed an action 
plan containing measures which will not only resolve the issues within Adult 
Care but will also have a wider corporate impact to ensure governance 
processes are further supported and enhanced in all Directorates going 
forward. The actions agreed included: 

 The development of annual procurement plans, to be reported as Key 
Decisions, within each Directorate; 

 All procurement documentation produced by STAR to be reviewed to 
ensure that governance arrangements are properly considered and 
supported by relevant documentation; 

 Reviewing and refreshing Key Decision guidance and training 
currently available to officers; 

 Ensuring all documents submitted in support of procurements comply 
with all policies, guidance and statute and are supported with 
appropriate documentation which confirms authority to procure; 

 Ensuring appropriate challenge is made to all submissions by officers 
within Finance, Legal and STAR; and 

 Reviewing the definition of what constitutes a Key Decision as set out 
within the Constitution to ensure the criteria aligns with the current 
requirements of Members and senior management. 

 
Management agreed that all actions will be complete by 31 July 2020, with 
a number of the actions already now in place, and Internal Audit will 
continue to monitor progress to ensure timely completion, providing 
updates to Members as considered appropriate. 
 
Primary School 
  (Director – Children’s Services) 
 
In March 2020 an audit was undertaken on a primary school which 
highlighted weaknesses in fundamental internal controls and a limited 
assurance opinion was given. A substantial number of recommendations 
were made, including 9 of high priority and 8 of medium priority, to address 
improvements that needed to be made to the system of internal control to 
ensure it aligns with best practice. 

Page 29



6.9 
 
 
 
 
 
6.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
6.11 
 
 
 
6.12 
 
7 
 
7.1 
 
 
 
8 
 
8.1 
 
 
 
 
 
8.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The high priority actions agreed were associated with the need to 
significantly improve governance processes relating to the procurement of 
services provided to the school, the selection of suppliers, the approval of 
payments and certain safeguarding measures associated with contracted 
workers attending the school. 
 
Further issues were identified which contributed to our opinion and from 
which an action plan was derived, including the following: 

 Ensuring the approval of key decisions, polices and other relevant 
documents are appropriately documented within the Governing Body 
minutes; 

 All key financial policies are subject to ongoing review and approval 
by the Governing Body; 

 More detailed budget monitoring reports should be made available to 
ensure Governors fulfil their financial management responsibilities 
more effectively; 

 A formal Development Plan should be developed and approved; and 

 A written policy should be developed to provide more effective 
governance over the use of the school credit card. 

 
Internal Audit will continue to monitor the progress made in relation to the 
agreed actions and perform a follow up audit in 2020 and confirm the 
status to Members. 
 
The current status of all follow up audits is summarised in Appendix B.  
 
Unplanned work 
 
A number of unplanned audits were in progress in quarter four but have not 
yet been completed. The outcomes of these audits will be reported to 
Members once the work has been concluded.  
 
Counter Fraud Team 
 
A summary of the work completed by the Counter Fraud Team from 
January to March 2020 is set out below, as well as the Counter Fraud 
Team quarter 4 results and end of year results for 2019/20. 
 
Performance 
 
A total of 147 fraud referrals were received in the fourth quarter of this 
financial year, bringing the total to 671 for 2019/20. The main sources of 
these referrals came from the National Fraud Initiative (NFI), the 
Partnership Enforcement Team, anonymous information and RBC 
employees. A significant number of these do not progress to formal 
investigation by the team as they are either passed to the DWP or closed 
due to apparent malicious intent or the fact that there is not enough 
information to progress the matter.  
 
 
 

Page 30



8.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.4 
 
 
8.5 
 
 
 
 
 
8.6 
 
 
 
8.7 
 
 

 
 
 

8.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.9 
 
 
 
 
 
8.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

From January to March 2020 the team achieved £47,709 in additional 
savings and overpayments. This figure derives from successful 
investigations into transactions associated with a number of Service areas 
including Benefits, Council Tax, Business Rates, Blue Badge and Adult 
Care, as well as additional income from fraud financial penalties and 
administrative penalties.  

 
96% of referrals have resulted in positive outcomes in the fourth quarter, 
with the overall average for the year being 82%.  
 
Two sanctions were achieved in quarter four, comprising of two fines 
totalling £1411. This brings the sanction total to 11 for 2019/20, comprising 
one prosecution, two formal cautions and eight fines for fraud. 
 
National Fraud Initiative (NFI) 
 
The Counter Fraud Team is one of several sections within the Council that 
have an important role to play in checking data matches that are received 
from the NFI.   
 
The Team have being checking the data received in the 2018/19 NFI 
Single Person Discount, Council Tax matches. To date over 500 matches 
have been checked and over £28,000 has been generated from cancelled 
single person discounts. Checks are now being completed from the 
2019/20 NFI Single Person Discount.                          .        
                                      
The NFI Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support work from 2018/2019 is 
ongoing. We have checked and closed 37 reports to date. We currently 
have 19 open investigations. To date, the Counter Fraud Team have found 
over £20,000 in overpayments from these NFI matches and these are 
being recovered. Ten of the live cases are from data matched against 
HMRC records.   
 
Partnership Enforcement Team (PET) 
 
The Counter Fraud Team not only investigates cases of fraud, but also 
provides a wealth of advice across the Council to services and to external 
bodies including immigration and the police.  Replies have been made to 
over 140 Data Protection Requests from January to March 2020, not 
including the work that is completed in the PET.  
 
Referrals from different teams are brought to the PET weekly meeting each 
Monday to discuss and work on together.  A combination of intelligence, 
skills and powers from the different enforcement agencies are used to 
prevent and detect fraud within the Borough. Currently the following cross-
agency teams attend the weekly meeting: GMP – Organised Crime Team; 
Divisional Tasking Team, Rochdale BC – Children’s Services; Community 
Cohesion & Equality; Community Safety; Fraud; Public Protection; 
Strategic Housing, DWP – Fraud, RBH – Enforcement, Fire Service 
officials. 
 

Page 31



8.11 
 
 
 
 
 
8.12 
 
 
 
9 
 
9.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

9.2 
 

The Counter Fraud Team also dealt with over 115 ‘police checks’ on 
Rochdale BC systems, to help the police trace alleged offenders and 
absconders. This brings the total to 376 for 2019/20. 8 cases are currently 
under investigation including tenancy fraud cases under the Controlling 
Migration Funding.       
   
The Counter Fraud Team continues to participate in days of action and 
proactive visits resulting in savings being generated in respect of Council 
Tax, Business Rates, Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support.   
   
Internal Audit Performance Measures 

 
The table below shows actual performance as at 31 March 2020 against 
Internal Audit targets for the fourth quarter, including the actuals for 
2018/19.  

 

Performance Indicator Actual  
 Year 

2018/19 

Target 
Q4 

2019/20 

Actual 
Q4 

2019/20 

Economy    

1. Cost per Audit Day – excluding 
overheads 

£229 £260 £237 

Efficiency    

2. Chargeable days per auditor 
(days) 

208 190 203 

3. Percentage of audit plan 
completed (96% for full year) 

96% 96% 96% 

4. Percentage of draft audit reports 
issued within 14 days of 
completion of the audit 

100% 98% 100% 

Effectiveness    

5. Percentage of recommendations 
accepted 

100% 98% 100% 

6. Results of client surveys - % of 
marks in the top two categories 
(i.e. very good & good) 

100% 98% 99% 

   
All performance indicators were either achieved or were ahead of target for 
the period.   

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



10  Traded Services Provided by Internal Audit 
 

10.1 Internal Audit continues to undertake audit work for a number of organisations 
in accordance with Traded Services agreements, thereby generating external 
income for the Authority. In 2019/20 to 31 March 2020 this has generated 
income of £6,690 and has included:  

 Audit of School Fund Accounts for 15 schools under Local Authority 
control;  

 Financial health check for one school under Local Authority control; and 

 Two grant certifications for an Academy. 
 
10.2      Within the limitations of existing resources, Internal Audit continues to pursue 

opportunities to generate external income. 
 

11         Internal Audit Response to challenges arising from COVID-19 
 

11.1      The Head of Internal Audit fully recognises the challenges faced by the 
organisation in response to the current pandemic in terms of new financial 
initiatives, changes in operational priorities, redeployment of staff across all 
services and a shift in the risk profiles associated with all services provided. All 
the services provided by Internal Audit (audit, risk, insurance and counter 
fraud) have moved to working from home without any significant impairment of 
the levels of service previously provided. We have understood the new 
challenges faced by operational management and staff but in spite of this the 
level of liaison has remained strong.   

 
11.2      In response to the new challenges being faced, Internal Audit has responded 

in a number of ways going into the first quarter of 2020/21 through the 
provision of staff resources to support new initiatives or provide real-time 
assurance on new processes being implemented. Specific examples include 
the following: 

 Provision of support for the organisation and delivery of Aldi 
supermarket vouchers for the most financially challenged families in the 
Borough to absorb the balance remaining on the hardship fund provided 
by the government. This also involved dealing with numerous queries 
arising from the process from the public; 

 Supporting efforts to contact businesses who had not applied for the 
small business and retail grants made available by the government; 

 Provision of real-time assurance over the integrity of payments to adult 
social care providers who have incurred additional costs as a result of 
the Covid-19 situation; 

 The Counter Fraud Team have been developing pro-active measures to 
evaluate the risk of fraud arising from the payment of small business 
and retail grants and the discretionary top-up grants to ensure 
protection of the public purse; and 

 The Risk Manager has been providing risk management support for the 
weekly Gold management meetings. 
 

11.3      Where the above has utilised Internal Audit staff, the time has so far been 
drawn from the pool of unplanned time included within the agreed Audit Plan 
for 2020/21 such that this should not impinge upon our ability to complete the 

Page 33



Audit Plan by the end of the 2020/21 year. Should this situation continue for an 
extended period which may change this view then the Head of Internal Audit 
will raise and discuss this with the Audit and Governance Committee and the 
Chief Finance Officer to agree on an appropriate way forward. This is a matter 
which will be kept under constant review with updates to Members provided as 
considered appropriate. 

 
11.4      In addition, the Head of Internal Audit will continue to ensure that where staff 

may be directly engaged in operational procedures for a period, there will be 
no impairment to professional independence in relation to any subsequent 
audit work focused on those processes or related controls to ensure ongoing 
compliance with audit standards. 

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
12. Not applicable. 

 
 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
13. If Internal Audit recommendations are not implemented, the Council will be 

exposed to the risks set out in the relevant detailed Internal Audit reports. 
These risks will be mitigated by completion of the actions agreed with 
management and summarised within this report. Internal Audit 
recommendations are raised as a result of weaknesses identified during 
reviews and therefore such identified issues impact upon compliance and 
governance. 
 

Consultation 

 
14. The recommendations and actions arising from audit reviews are agreed in 

consultation with relevant senior management and officers within each 
Service area. 
 
 
 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

 None  

 

For Further Information Contact: Ian Corbridge, Tel: 01706925452, 
ian.corbridge@rochdale.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 34



Appendix A 

Planned audits completed in quarter four 

 

Service 

 

Audit Area 

 

Scope of Audit and Key Areas for Improvement 

Assurance 
Opinion 

 

Recommendation 
priorities 

(H, M, L) 

Integrated Health 
and Care 

Commissioning 

Local Care 
Organisation 

(LCO) 

Summary of audit performed by Mersey Internal Audit Agency (MIAA) 
The Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale (HMR) Locality Plan was 
approved in 2017 and implementation of this Plan is anticipated to 
transform the health and care system for the residents of the Borough. A 
fundamental enabler of the Plan is the development of an LCO which 
operates under a partnership agreement, where commissioners and 
providers work collaboratively to deliver a set of ambitious population 
outcomes for the Borough. HMR CCG and RBC are key partners within 
this alliance. The overall objective of the review was to evaluate the 
governance of partnership arrangements, stakeholder engagement and 
performance and benefits monitoring. 
 
The audit provided substantial assurance that a good system of 
governance and internal control is in place. There were however some 
areas highlighted where further improvement can be made including: 

 The amendment of governance structure documentation to formally 
outline decision making pathways and hierarchies; 

 The need to develop a clear communications strategy; 

 The need to ensure LCO risk registers are kept up to date with 
regular review dates assigned to all risks; and 

 The need to implement a framework to monitor progress against 
agreed LCO objectives on a periodic basis. 
 

Substantial M – 4,  

L – 1  

P
age 35



 

Service 

 

Audit Area 

 

Scope of Audit and Key Areas for Improvement 

Assurance 
Opinion 

 

Recommendation 
priorities 

(H, M, L) 

Neighbourhoods Cyber Security – 
LGA Stocktake 

Report 

In 2018 the Local Government Association (LGA) collected data as part of 
co-ordinating a national assessment of the cyber security arrangements in 
place at all local authorities. The report issued for Rochdale was rated as 
Amber/Red and indicated that there were opportunities to improve the 
Council’s cyber security arrangements. This review followed up on the 
actions taken since to address the issues identified and reference should 
also be made to the Internal Audit report issued on 13 November 2019 re 
IT Security previously reported to the Audit and Governance Committee. 
 
The review indicated that whilst the response to the LGAs issues was 
initially slow, the various matters are now being addressed and an updated 
report from the LGA in 2019 indicated an improved Amber rating. 
Nevertheless, management has agreed to ensure a clear action plan with 
timelines is now produced to address remaining issues and effective use is 
made of external funding that has been made available. 
 

Adequate M – 3 

 

Neighbourhoods Public Protection 
- Contaminated 

Land, 
Environmental 

Permits, Private 
Water Supplies  

Public Protection deals with environmental issues such as contaminated 
land, environmental permits and private water supplies. This audit focused 
on providing assurance on compliance with regulations/ legislation, 
monitoring, enforcement and income management associated with all 
these areas. 
 
Whilst the control environment was considered to be generally sound, the 
key issue identified was to develop a strategy document to identify the 
current levels of service provision for the range of functions delivered by 
the service to enhance overall governance. In addition the production of 
formal written procedure notes to maintain effective service delivery was 
also agreed together with a review of current policy relating to applying 
fees for private water supplies. 
 

Adequate H – 1,  

M – 4  

P
age 36



 

Service 

 

Audit Area 

 

Scope of Audit and Key Areas for Improvement 

Assurance 
Opinion 

 

Recommendation 
priorities 

(H, M, L) 

Neighbourhoods Traffic Regulation 
Orders (TROs) 

TROs are legal documents that allow the RBC Highway Authority to 
enforce various permanent or temporary restrictions designed to manage 
traffic. Responsibility for enforcing parking restrictions rests with the 
Highway Authorities under the terms of the Borough wide consultation 
order, last amended in 2008. The audit focused on the adequacy of 
controls in place relating to the implementation of TROs and the timeliness 
of works undertaken in response to TROs.  
 
The audit concluded that there was a sound system of control in place. 
The key recommendation was to consolidate existing TROs into an 
authority wide or township orders although it was acknowledged that this 
was a time consuming process and would require dedicated resource to 
achieve.  
 

Substantial M – 2  

P
age 37



 

Service 

 

Audit Area 

 

Scope of Audit and Key Areas for Improvement 

Assurance 
Opinion 

 

Recommendation 
priorities 

(H, M, L) 

Neighbourhoods Rochdale Town 
Centre Public 

Space Protection 
Orders (PSPO) 

RBC operates one PSPO covering the Rochdale town centre. The purpose 
of a PSPO is to deal with anti-social behaviour in a particular area that is 
having a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the local 
community. It can prohibit certain things or require specific things to be 
done. A PSPO can apply to all people or limited to certain people and can 
be restricted to specific times. A PSPO can last no longer than three years 
and can be renewed if necessary. Failure to comply with an order can 
result in a fine or a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN). The overall aim of the 
audit was to evaluate the effectiveness of controls over the establishment 
and operation of the Rochdale town centre PSPO. 
 
The audit concluded that RBC can demonstrate that it has successfully 
introduced and operates the Rochdale town centre PSPO. The actions 
agreed included: 

 Refunding an FPN which was issued outside of the designated 
area; 

 Appointing a “Nominated Officer” to facilitate the recovery of unpaid 
FPNs; and 

 Developing a formal enforcement policy which will include the 
issuing and recovery of PSPO FPNs. 
 

Adequate M – 3  

P
age 38



 

Service 

 

Audit Area 

 

Scope of Audit and Key Areas for Improvement 

Assurance 
Opinion 

 

Recommendation 
priorities 

(H, M, L) 

Resources Visiting Team The Visiting Team is primarily responsible for identifying new commercial 
and domestic properties within the Borough which are not being charged 
business rates or council tax. The details of these properties ae then 
passed to the Valuation Office to enable them to rate them, thereby 
enabling the Council to raise a bill. The audit focused on the effectiveness 
of and compliance with visiting procedures. 
 
Internal Audit concluded that the procedures in place governing inspection 
visits are effective and are carried out in a timely manner. As such no 
recommendations were considered appropriate. 
 

Substantial None  

Resources New Vendors 
within STAR 
Authorities 

A new process of setting up vendors and reinstating cancelled/ suspended 
vendors was established in 2018/19. This audit focused on evaluating 
compliance with and the effectiveness of the new process across the 
STAR authorities. 
 
In overall terms processes were complied with and STAR communicated 
back to requesting authorities in a timely manner. In terms of agreed 
actions to enhance current systems and controls which impacted RBC 
these included the following: 

 STAR to develop a methodology for monitoring the application of 
the 2 day target to process new vendors; 

 Any new vendor forms which do not have expected expenditure 
levels included will be rejected; and 

 A monthly spend analysis process will commence to evaluate 
compliance with processes. 
 

Adequate M – 6  P
age 39



 

Service 

 

Audit Area 

 

Scope of Audit and Key Areas for Improvement 

Assurance 
Opinion 

 

Recommendation 
priorities 

(H, M, L) 

Resources Creditors  The Purchase to Pay policy governs the approach to creditors and 
provides information and guidance that staff should follow on the purchase 
to payment procedure. Key aspects of the policy relate to the requirement 
for purchase orders to be raised in advance for all goods and services 
where an invoice is expected, and for invoices to be paid on a timely basis. 
The objective of the audit was to review compliance with the purchase to 
pay policy with a view to identifying areas of compliance, establishing 
areas of non-compliance, and suggesting areas for improvement. The 
audit was based on a sample of transactions covering a range of service 
areas. 
 
Whilst processes and controls were generally sound, a number of 
anomalies were identified focused on two main areas of none compliance, 
namely: 

 Purchase orders being raised retrospectively after the receipt of the 
invoice; and 

 Invoices not being addressed to Financial Processing or sent 
through in a timely manner to facilitate payment within agreed 
terms. 

Internal Audit sent memos to each of the services concerned with 
agreement from management to ensure these issues were resolved with 
immediate effect. 
 

Adequate M - 9 

P
age 40



 

Service 

 

Audit Area 

 

Scope of Audit and Key Areas for Improvement 

Assurance 
Opinion 

 

Recommendation 
priorities 

(H, M, L) 

Various Grant 
Certifications 

Certain grants available to RBC require periodic certification to confirm that 
the grants have been spent in accordance with grant terms and conditions. 
These certifications generally require sign off by the Head of Internal Audit 
together with either the Chief Executive or Chief Finance Officer. During 
quarter three, the following grant certification was signed off in this way:  

 Highways Incentive Funding 2020/21. 
 

Internal Audit performed various independent checks to ensure that grant 
certifications could be signed off and no issues arose from this work. 
 

Substantial None 

P
age 41



 

Service 

 

Audit Area 

 

Scope of Audit and Key Areas for Improvement 

Assurance 
Opinion 

 

Recommendation 
priorities 

(H, M, L) 

Children’s Services 
- Schools 

4 Primary 
Schools 

 

 

 

This comprised a review of the schools’ exposure to risk using the Ofsted 
document “Keeping your balance”, also taking account of other service 
areas and the extent of schools’ implementation of previous 
recommendations.  

Moorhouse Primary 
Shawclough Primary 
Stansfield Hall CE/ Free School Primary 
St. John Fisher Primary 
 
The two high priority recommendations required improvements to the 
following areas: 

 The ongoing monitoring of cash flow and balances should be 
enhanced to ensure adequate financial resources are maintained 
at all times; and 

 The procurement and authorisation of expenditure must comply 
with the School Finance Policy at all times. 

 
A number of other actions were agreed to improve processes and controls 
including ensuring that: 

 VAT invoices must be obtained to support relevant expenditure; 

 Income must always be recorded promptly; 

 The asset inventory should be kept up to date with any additions or 
disposals; 

 The Register of Interests must be complete, kept up to date and 
published at all times; and 

 The school finance policy and finance procedure manuals are 
continually reviewed and updated to ensure they remain relevant. 

 
A further primary school was audited during the period and received a 
limited assurance opinion. This is summarised in Section 6. 
 

Substantial – 
1 

Adequate – 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

H – 2, 

M – 16, 

L – 21  

P
age 42



Appendix B 

FOLLOW UP OF OUTSTANDING INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS – STATUS AS AT 12 JUNE 2020 

Report  Assurance Service  
High and 

Medium priority 
actions  

Final Date 
for 

Completion  

Follow up 
date  

Actions 
Complete 

Actions 
Still in 

Progress  
Notes on Follow Up Audit 

Highways Winter Service S Neighbourhoods 11 31/08/2019 13/02/2020 9 2 

The update of the Winter 
Service Policy and Plans will 
be aligned with the outcomes 

of an AGMA wide policy 
review with completion now 

expected by September 
2020.  

Commercial Investment 
Fund 

A Economy 7 31/10/2019 29/04/2019 5 2 

The development of a 
Portfolio Management 

Strategy is currently subject 
to ongoing management 

consideration in conjunction 
with RDA prior to going to 

Cabinet for approval.  

Music Service A Children’s 7 31/12/2019   4 3 To be followed up in 2020/21 

External Placements A Children’s 7 31/01/2020       To be followed up in 2020/21 

Collaborative Schools A Children’s 2 28/02/2020       To be followed up in 2020/21 

Town Centre Programme 
Management 

A Economy 8 31/03/2020       To be followed up in 2020/21 

Corporate GDPR/ Data 
Protection Arrangements 

A Neighbourhoods 7 31/03/2020       To be followed up in 2020/21 

Honorarium And 
Substitution Payments 

A Resources 7 31/03/2020       To be followed up in 2020/21 

Pooled Budgets A Integrated Health 4 31/03/2020       
To be followed up in 2020/21 

by the MIAA 

Exemptions N/A Resources 5 31/03/2020       To be followed up in 2020/21 

New Vendor Additions/ 
Reinstatements within 
STAR Authorities 

A Resources 6 31/03/2020       To be followed up in 2020/21 

P
age 43



Report  Assurance Service  
High and 

Medium priority 
actions  

Final Date 
for 

Completion  

Follow up 
date  

Actions 
Complete 

Actions 
Still in 

Progress  
Notes on Follow Up Audit 

Youth Offending Team S Children’s 1 30/04/2020       To be followed up in 2020/21 

Pen Pictures A Adult Care 6 30/04/2020 13/11/2019 3 3 

3 remaining 
recommendations will be 

completed once a full review 
of the Commissioning Pen 
Picture process has been 

completed. 

ContrOCC A Adult 2 30/06/2020 11/12/2019 1 1 

Full resolution of data 
cleansing will only be 

achieved through a system 
upgrade which the supplier is 
working on for early in 2020. 

I.T. Security A Neighbourhoods 6 30/06/2020       To be followed up in 2020/21 

Local Care Organisation S Integrated Health 4 30/06/2020       
To be followed up in 2020/21 

by the MIAA 

Key Decisions and 
Exemptions from Contract 
Procedure Rules 

L Adult Care 3 31/07/2020       To be followed up in 2020/21 

Rochdale Town Centre 
Public Space Protection 
Order 

A Neighbourhoods 3 31/07/2020       To be followed up in 2020/21 

Public Protection: 
Contaminated Land; 
Environmental Permits; 
Private Water Supplies 

A Neighbourhoods 4 31/12/2020       To be followed up in 2020/21 

Traffic Regulation Orders 
(TROs) 
 

S Neighbourhoods 2 31/03/2021       

A longer timescale is 
required in view of the 

challenge posed by 
consolidating all existing 

TROs 

 

P
age 44



 

Report to Audit and Governance Committee 
 

 

Date of Meeting 23rd June 2020 
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Resources 
Report Author Ian Corbridge 
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

Internal Audit Annual Fraud Report 2019/20 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1.1 This report provides a summary for those charged with responsibility for 

governance on the outcome of proactive and reactive anti-fraud and 
investigation work during 2019/20, with the main focus being work 
delivered by Internal Audit, which also includes the Council’s Counter 
Fraud Team. It also outlines some of the areas of emerging fraud risk and 
the Council’s strategic and operational arrangements for managing these 
risks. 
 

1.2 The key issues arising and outcomes achieved during the year were: 
a) 671 fraud referrals received by the Counter Fraud Team during 

2019/20; 
b) £220,467 in financial benefits achieved through savings and 

increased income for the Council; 
c) 82% of fraud referrals have resulted in positive outcomes i.e. any 

case with a positive result e.g. a successful prosecution or sanction, 
an overpayment, a bill or retrieving a blue badge being used 
fraudulently; 

d) 1 successful prosecution; 
e) 2 formal cautions administered; 
f) 3 financial penalties administered amounting to £1,651; 
g) 5 Administrative Penalties administered amounting to £7,165;   
h) good working relations with GMP and other partner organisations 

further embedded as part of ongoing work with the Partnership 
Enforcement Team, including direct involvement in several days of 
action; 

i) 2 whistleblowing referrals logged and dealt with;  
j) provision of positive assurance to management on systems of 

control that were subject to proactive anti-fraud work e.g. payroll 
and creditor payments; and 

k) positive assurance that the key requirements of the national 
Fighting Fraud Locally initiative are being complied with by the 
Council. 

 

 

Page 45

Agenda Item 8



 
 

Recommendation 

 
2. 

 
Report for information. 
 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3. Like any organisation of significant size and complexity, Rochdale 

Borough Council (the Council) is inherently vulnerable to risks of fraud and 
corruption. In response to these risks the Council has a range of mitigating 
controls that are used to both prevent and detect fraud and other similar 
malpractice that may exist within the Council. This report is therefore to 
inform the Audit and Governance Committee of the various actions and 
measures that have been taken during 2019/20 to mitigate the risks of 
fraud. 
 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4.1 The Council needs to ensure that public money is safeguarded and not 

lost due to fraud.  At a time when local government finances continue to 
be severely cut back, it is important that resources are directed to those 
who genuinely need it.  Money lost to fraud is money that could be used 
instead to meet the important needs of genuine people and organisations 
in our Borough. 
 

4.2 Apart from the need to ensure public money is protected, there are also a 
number of issues and safeguards which have been put in place to direct 
the anti-fraud work, with some of the more prominent of these now being 
considered below. 
 

4.3 Annual Fraud and Corruption Survey 
At the time of writing this report the annual CIPFA Fraud and Corruption 
Tracker survey had not yet been initiated by the organising body.  As 
such, information in this regard will be reported to Committee in due 
course. Responses to the last Survey were co-ordinated and submitted by 
Internal Audit in July 2019.  
 
The outcomes from this survey continue to inform future guidance and 
best practice in relation to fraud identification, prevention and detection.  
 

4.4 CIPFA Managing the Risk of Fraud  
 
The CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud is one of a 
number of useful publications that describe what action is needed for an 
organisation to be effective in countering fraud and corruption. The five 
key principles of this particular Code are to: 

 Acknowledge the responsibility of the governing body for 
countering fraud and corruption; 

 Identify the fraud and corruption risks; 

 Develop an appropriate counter fraud and corruption strategy; 

Page 46



 Provide resources to implement the strategy; and 

 Take action in response to fraud and corruption. 
 
Internal Audit has taken the lead role in understanding and using this good 
practice in a practical way here at the Council by having completed the 
self-assessment checklists provided, and ensuring that the principles 
within it are used as a benchmark for good practice in relation to any 
counter fraud initiatives. 
 

4.5 Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 
 
Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally (FFCL) is a strategy that was first 
published in April 2012 as part of a wider national collaboration on counter 
fraud.  The latest FFCL was published earlier in 2020, with reference in 
the strategy stating that it is “a strategy for the 2020’s”.  As such, it 
continues to provide a wealth of good practice, by which the Council’s 
approach to counter fraud initiatives going forward continues to be 
influenced. 
 
Please see Appendix 1 for a completed self-assessment checklist which 
shows the position at the Council against a list of good practice from the 
FFCL checklist. 
 
Please note that later in 2020 the Council’s FFCL checklist itself will be 
updated in line with that contained in the latest FFCL 2020 Strategy, with 
compliance to this also being reconsidered and updated accordingly. 
 

4.6 In the current economic climate there is a perceived increased risk of 
fraud due to a reduction in resources. This certainly remains true in local 
government, where budgetary pressures, large spending cuts and difficult 
decisions over priorities may well weaken controls and increase the 
likelihood of fraud. 
 

4.7 To safeguard public money and ensure that funds are used for their 
intended purpose, the Council has a zero tolerance approach to fraud, 
supported by a strong policy statement and commitment to tackling fraud 
and corruption. This is backed up by various policies, procedures and 
codes linked to the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy. This helps to ensure 
that staff, the public and various stakeholders can have confidence that 
the affairs of the Council are conducted in accordance with the highest 
standards of probity and accountability and that Members and officers 
demonstrate the highest standards of honesty and integrity. 
 

 Structure and Roles 
 

4.8 Working in conjunction with the Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer 
and other officers throughout the Council as appropriate, Internal Audit 
plays a part in ensuring that the Council has appropriate arrangements to 
deter, detect and investigate fraud. This role includes the following:  
 

Page 47



4.9 a) Driving the continual development of a framework of anti-fraud policies 
and procedures; 

b) Raising awareness of fraud risks and developing mechanisms to 
maximise the opportunities for fraud risk reporting; 

c) Being involved in a joined-up response to whistleblowing allegations, 
referrals and other concerns including those received under the 
Council’s Anti-Money Laundering Policy; 

d) Investigation of concerns/ allegations of financial or other irregularity; 
e) Liaising with Greater Manchester Police to support criminal 

prosecutions; 
f) Delivering a programme of proactive anti-fraud reviews; 
g) Liaising with Council officers and/or schools in the Borough directly on 

various issues associated with minimising the risk of fraud; 
h) Providing advice and support to managers across the Council in their 

own investigation of irregularities; 
i) Providing advice and recommendations to managers on appropriate 

controls to help prevent and detect fraud and corruption; and 
j) Monitoring anti-fraud activity across the Council. 
 

4.10 In 2019/20 Internal Audit spent a total of 138 days on anti-fraud work. This 
consisted of 98 days reactive and 40 proactive (including the NFI).  
 

4.11 The Council’s approach to dealing with fraud extends beyond the 
Monitoring Officer and Internal Audit to all Council Services where 
appropriate, including schools. 
 

4.12 The Council’s Counter Fraud Team, which forms part of the Internal Audit 
team, is a team that was established in March 2015 following the 
migration of housing benefit investigations to the DWP. This was as a 
result of the creation of a single fraud investigation service (SFIS) within 
the DWP to investigate benefit fraud. It was therefore agreed that a local 
counter fraud function be retained within the Council in order to investigate 
non-benefit fraud, e.g. local council tax support, council tax discounts, 
business rate reliefs and exemptions, blue badges, Adult Care ‘personal 
budgets’ etc. following the localism agenda; the need to minimise fraud 
and maximise income for the Council was key to this decision.  
 

4.13 In addition to the above, the Counter Fraud Team is also a key member of 
the Partnership Enforcement Team (PET), which is co-located with the 
GMP and other Council enforcement staff such as Public Protection, 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement, Community Safety, RBH 
enforcement and more recently DWP Fraud officers. The focus of the PET 
is in tackling fraud and crime across the Borough. 
 

4.14 In general terms, there is a continuing drive to ensure that Service 
management are generally more aware of their fraud risks, and that they 
take ownership to ensure that adequate controls are in place to minimise 
against these risks. 
 
 
 

Page 48



 
 

 Counter Fraud Team 
 

4.15 A summary of the work completed by the Counter Fraud Team in 2019/20 
is set out below. 
 

 Performance  

4.16 A total of 671 fraud referrals were received during 2019/20 (compared 
against 681 in 2018/19). Referrals are continuously reviewed and work 
takes place where appropriate to generate more referrals including fraud 
awareness training.   
 
Typical sources of these referrals are from the National Fraud Initiative 
(NFI), the Partnership Enforcement Team, anonymous information and 
RBC employees. A significant number of these do not progress to formal 
investigation by the team as they are either passed to the DWP or closed 
due to apparent malicious intent or the fact that there is not enough 
information to progress the matter. 
 

4.17 In total for 2019/20 the team achieved savings of £220,467. This figure 
derives from successful investigations into transactions associated with a 
number of Service areas typically including Benefits, Council Tax, 
Business Rates, Blue Badge and Adult Care, as well as additional income 
from fraud financial penalties, administrative penalties and court costs.  
 

4.18 As referred to at 1.2 above, 82% of referrals resulted in positive outcomes. 
 

 National Fraud Initiative 

4.19 The Counter Fraud Team is one of several sections within the Council that 
have an important role to play in checking data matches that are received 
from the NFI. 
 
The Team have being checking the data received in the 2018/19 NFI 
Single Person Discount, Council Tax matches. To date over 500 matches 
have been checked and over £28,000 has been generated from cancelled 
single person discounts. Checks are now being completed from the 
2019/20 NFI Single Person Discount. 
 
The NFI Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support work from 2018/2019 is 
ongoing. We have checked and closed 37 reports to date. We currently 
have 19 open investigations. To date, the Counter Fraud Team have 
found over £20,000 in overpayments from these NFI matches and these 
are being recovered. Ten of the live cases are from data matched against 
HMRC records.   
 
 
 

Page 49



 Partnership Enforcement Team (PET) 

4.20 The Counter Fraud Team not only investigates cases of fraud, but also 
provides a wealth of advice across the Council to services and to external 
bodies including immigration and the police.  Replies were made to 520 
Data Protection Requests in 2019/20, not including the work that is 
completed in the PET which totalled another 376 requests actioned. 
 

4.21 Referrals from different teams are brought to the PET weekly meeting 
each Monday to discuss and work on together.  A combination of 
intelligence, skills and powers from the different enforcement agencies are 
used to prevent and detect fraud within the Borough. Currently the 
following cross-agency teams attend the weekly meeting: GMP – 
Organised Crime Team; Divisional Tasking Team, Rochdale BC – 
Children’s Services; Community Cohesion & Equality; Community Safety; 
Fraud; Public Protection; Strategic Housing, DWP – Fraud, RBH – 
Enforcement, Fire Service officials. 
 

4.22 Further information relating to the PET being as follows: 
 

 8 cases currently under investigation; 

 24 PET fraud referrals were closed throughout the year; 

 1 successful prosecution – closed fraud proven; 

 5 were passed to DWP; 

 10 were closed with overpayments and savings or positive outcomes; 
and 

 8 were closed with no fraud found or did not need to be investigated. 
 

4.23 The experienced investigators have participated in days of action and 
proactive visits throughout the year, which has resulted in savings being 
generated in respect of Council Tax, Business Rates, Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax Support. 
 

 Reactive Fraud Cases 
 

4.24 A number of allegations of fraud were referred to Internal Audit during the 
year which were subject to initial investigation.  Of these, one involved 
Internal Audit spending time further investigating various related issues 
that resulted in internal disciplinary measures and/or referral to the police.  
Where appropriate, significant outcomes and lessons learned from all 
such work are shared with the Audit and Governance Committee through 
the Internal Audit quarterly reporting on an ongoing basis but only at the 
point a final conclusion is reached.  
 

 Proactive Anti-fraud work 
 

4.25 Some of the key areas of focus during the year included the following; 
 
 
 

Page 50



 National Fraud Initiative 

4.26 The Council fully participates in the biennial National Fraud Initiative (NFI) 
data matching exercise that is run by the Cabinet Office.  The NFI is a 
proactive anti-fraud initiative which matches electronic data within and 
between public and private sector bodies in order to highlight possible 
instances of fraud and error.  Data from various Council systems is 
provided by participants to the Cabinet Office, and IT data matching 
facilities are then used to analyse, compare and ultimately to match this 
data in accordance with set criteria for doing so.  The matched data is 
then returned to us in the form of a series of reports that are then checked 
by appropriate staff to determine whether fraud is suspected, or whether 
the data is present on the report due to error, or indeed due to genuine 
reasons.   
 

4.27 The current NFI exercise (2018/19) is now drawing to a close but the 
2020/21 exercise is due to start in October 2020 when data is provided to 
Cabinet Office, with the resulting data matching reports being available at 
the end of January 2021. 
 
Progress with the NFI is monitored closely by the Council’s NFI Key 
Contact and reported to the Chief Finance Officer and the Finance 
Portfolio Holder if significant outcomes need to be brought to their 
attention. 
 
Typical monetary related outcomes from recent NFI exercises are that 
funds are recovered in respect of the following areas: 
 

 from duplicate payments to suppliers; 

 from people claiming Housing Benefit inappropriately; 

 from overpayments of pension to deceased people; and 

 from overpayment of residential care fees to deceased people. 
 

Actual outcomes from the most recent NFI to date include: 
 

 4 data matches closed as frauds; 

 £38,859 identified for recovery, mainly within Housing Benefit 
and Council Tax Reduction; and 

 38 errors but with no financial value due to the nature of the 
errors, such as issues with blue badges as noted below. 
 

Please note that the above excludes NFI for CTAX SPD which is referred 
to separately below. 
 

4.28 Non-monetary outcomes from the NFI are also important too, such as 
information leading to the cancellation of several blue badge parking 
permits as a result of badge holder’s now being deceased, thus 
minimising the risk of family/friends using the badge instead.  It is noted 
that these are not due to fraudulent activity, merely the fact that official 
records show the badge holder is deceased yet the Council had not been 
informed.  However, cancelling badges in this way ensures that the badge 

Page 51



cannot be renewed when it expires, thus proactively nullifying the risk of 
someone fraudulently reapplying and having the badge renewed in the 
name of the deceased person. 
 

 Internal Data Matching 

4.29 Internal Audit also makes use of various standard IT facilities and 
specialised audit software (ACL) in order to analyse and match data from 
key corporate systems to establish patterns and discrepancies which may 
be an indicator of fraud.  This work is useful as it supplements the biennial 
NFI exercise with data analysis that is current and absolutely meaningful 
at the time of processing, thereby meaning that the opportunity to prevent 
and detect fraud is reduced still further. 
 

4.30 Examples of this include: 
 

 Work is always undertaken to analyse and further refine data 
received from the Cabinet Office relating to Council Tax Single 
Person Discount fraud.  This allows for limited staffing resource to 
be targeted at checking data matches of greater quality. 

 

 A data match, that in a previous NFI exercise highlighted a £70k 
fraud at the Council, is recreated bi-annually to check the 
authenticity of instances where members of staff and companies 
trading with the Council have the same bank account details.  The 
small number of data matches that were identified as being in this 
category were found to exist for genuine reasons e.g. Council 
employee is wife/ husband/ partner of someone that owns a 
company that trades with the Council and they have a shared bank 
account into which both salary and payments for goods/services 
are paid. 

 

 A test is performed to ensure that staff working for the Council are 
not being paid via the payroll system and also by payment of 
invoices for the same work.  An example of where this could 
potentially occur is with consultants and temporary agency/contract 
workers.  No such cases have been identified to date. 

 
 General Anti-fraud Training 

4.31 Further to the general anti-fraud e-learning training that is undertaken by 
all staff in the Council, the Counter Fraud Team also ensures that the 
skills of its own staff are kept up to date where necessary - an example of 
this in 2019/20 being attendance at a Social Media Investigation course. 
 
In 2019/20, the Counter Fraud Team also liaised with a Rochdale-based 
professional services company to devise bespoke training material and to 
subsequently deliver this to some teams within the Adult Care Service. 
 
 

Page 52



 Whistleblowing Policy 

4.32 The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy aligns with published best practice 
(British Standard PAS 1998:2008) and is designed to make it as easy as 
possible for someone to report a concern.  Concerns are reported under 
this policy, with Internal Audit keeping metrics in this regard in order to be 
able to measure the ongoing effectiveness of this policy. The existence 
and use of this policy continues to be promoted to all staff via online 
media such as the Intranet. 
 
2 such referrals were reported and dealt with in 2019/20. 
  

 Anti-Money Laundering Policy 

4.33 A policy is in place and global communications are issued periodically to 
increase staff awareness of this area of risk.   
 

 Council Tax Single Person Discount (SPD) 

4.34 Resources continue to be carefully allocated and used in order to ensure 
that proportionate efforts are invested in minimising this particular risk of 
fraud.  Both the NFI data matching reports and selective services offered 
from external companies such as credit checking companies are used 
whenever required to assist the Council in ensuring that SPD fraud is 
minimised.   
 
NFI data matches for CTAX SPD are received in December each year 
from the Cabinet Office containing details of addresses in the Borough 
with a SPD but where the Electoral Register indicates that there is more 
than one person living at that address. 
 
Actual outcomes to date from the latest NFI SPD exercise are that over 
500 matches have been checked and over £28,000 has been generated 
from cancelled single person discounts. Checks are now being completed 
from the 2019/20 NFI Single Person Discount data matches. 

 
 Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy (AFACP) 

4.35 The AFACP itself is reviewed on an annual basis and re-published on the 
Intranet and Council website accordingly.  
 

 Key priorities for 2020/21 
 

4.36 Time and resource is normally allocated in the Annual Internal Audit Plan 
for the prevention and detection of fraud across the following areas: 
 

  Proactive Work - Internal Audit will engage in work aimed at 
minimising the risk of fraud before it occurs by engaging in a range 
of activities.  The Counter Fraud Team will continue to develop its 
remit and focus for identifying fraud in a range of areas and to 
ensure that any proven frauds lead to prosecution and recovery of 

Page 53



any financial loss; 
 

  Reactive Work - Internal Audit is ready and equipped to provide a 
service to management by leading and / or assisting with cases of 
suspected fraud that may arise. There is no doubt that the impact 
of the Covid-19 virus in 2020 and the financial implications this has 
had on local authorities in terms of the necessary changes in 
working practices and additional demands placed upon staff, 
additional fraud risks have emerged which are being closely 
monitored by the Counter Fraud Team in particular. It is likely that 
this will remain a specific priority for much of 2020; 

 
  Raising awareness - Internal Audit will continue to lead and / or 

support Council services to improve levels of awareness of fraud 
risks amongst managers, staff and partners; 

 
  Communication - Internal Audit will seek to improve the effective 

communication of Council policy, procedures and codes relating to 
anti-fraud; 

 
  Fraud risk assessment - Internal Audit will build upon work 

already performed in this area and ensure that fraud risks remain 
current and receive the attention of management in proportion to 
the risk faced; 

 
  External liaison - Internal Audit will further build upon links 

established with the police and the National Anti-Fraud Network 
(NAFN) to ensure that future fraud investigations proceed as 
smoothly as possible; 

 
  Co-ordination - Internal Audit will continue to work with 

colleagues, especially those in the HR Service and the Counter 
Fraud Team, to share expertise and maximise the efficiency and 
effectiveness of anti-fraud activity across the Council; 

 
  Fraud monitoring - Internal Audit will continue to maintain 

intelligence and oversight of fraud cases and outcomes in order to 
support decision making for management; 

 
  Collaborative Working - Internal Audit will continue to fully 

participate in the AGMA Fraud Group and to ensure that learning 
points and other good practice is considered and implemented at 
Rochdale Council where appropriate; the Counter Fraud Team is 
also a key member of the Partnership Enforcement Team which 
continues to have a very positive impact on tackling crime and 
fraud across the Borough; and 

 
  New Initiatives - Internal Audit will ensure that relevant new 

initiatives in the anti-fraud field are duly considered and good 
practice implemented within Rochdale Council where necessary. 

 

Page 54



 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. Not applicable. 

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6. Within this report consideration is given to the risks associated with fraud 

faced by the Authority and the processes and controls through which 
these risks are mitigated in order to ensure that the Anti-Fraud and 
Corruption Policy is both embedded and complied with. 
 

Consultation 

 
7. Not applicable.  

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8. None.  

 

For Further Information Contact: Ian Corbridge, Tel: 01706925452, 
ian.corbridge@rochdale.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Page 55



 
 

 
 

Appendix 1 Fighting Fraud Locally Self-Assessment Checklist – June 2020 
 
 
 

 
 

Yes No Comments and Actions 

1.  

 
 

 

 Relevant risks are on the risk register and regularly reviewed. Updates 
on fraud and corruption risks are reported to Audit and Governance 
Committee on at least an annual basis together with an evaluation of 
the Council’s response to these risks and the overall approach to fraud. 

2.  

 
 

 

 The Council has assessed the risks highlighted within both the PPP 
and FFL publications.  In terms of horizon scanning, the Council does 
take account of the “emerging risks” sections in national publications 
such as PPP etc., and relevant intelligence is gained by both Internal 
Audit and the Counter Fraud Team through the various networks in 
which they are directly involved and input to on an ongoing basis. 

3.  

 
 

 

 There is an annual fraud report that is presented to Audit and 
Governance Committee in June/July each year which sets out a 
summary of the approach to and outcomes from both proactive and 
reactive anti-fraud work, as well as the response to best practice in 
fraud from checklists such as this.   

P
age 56



 
 

 
 
 

Yes No Comments and Actions 

4. 

 
 

 

 The Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy (AFACP) is in place and is 
actively promoted periodically to all staff with a particular emphasis 
normally being given to whistleblowing arrangements. 

5. 

 

  

Various arrangements are in place, including documents such as the 
Codes of Conduct for both staff and Members, Anti-Fraud and 
Corruption Policy, Whistleblowing Policy etc., Code of Ethics, anti-fraud 
awareness training. All of these also form part of the Corporate 
Induction process. 
 

6.  

 

  

There are various examples of fraud risks being included on the 
Corporate and Service Risk Registers. 

7. 

 
 

  

Internal Audit continues to work proactively with all areas of the Council 
to ensure that input and advice on controls is provided and embedded 
within all new significant developments, which will always include a 
consideration of fraud risks. Similarly, the Risk Manager liaises directly 
with all Service areas offering advice on risk management. The work 
undertaken in all these areas is reported regularly to Audit and 
Governance Committee. 
 

8. 

 
 

  

There have been various examples of this both in internal and external 
communications, including the local press/media.  The Council regards 
it as an important thing to do in order to act as a deterrent to others. 

P
age 57



 
 

 

 
 
 

Yes No Comments and Actions 

9. 

 
 

  

The Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy dictates the Council’s overall 
approach and policy to cover all such arrangements and this continues 
to be actively promoted to all staff within the Council.  All staff must also 
undertake a short e-learning module on the subject of anti-fraud as part 
of the Corporate Induction process.  An informed workforce helps to 
ensure that fraudulent activity has a better chance of being noticed; 
also that staff are aware of what to do in terms of reporting any 
suspicions they may have. Both Internal Audit and the Counter Fraud 
Team have a well-developed pool of resources and tools to support the 
detection and subsequent investigation of any alleged fraud. 
 

10. 

 
 

  

The Head of Internal Audit liaises closely with the Monitoring Officer 
who takes a lead in relation to developing and implementing policies 
supporting ethical governance. Internal Audit takes a lead in terms of 
the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy.  With regard to compliance, this 
is primarily assessed on a rolling basis through work included on the 
Internal Audit Annual Plan. Mechanisms are also in place for any 
issues on conduct and behaviour to be reported and followed up as 
considered appropriate, with any outcomes being reported through to 
Audit and Governance Committee via the Monitoring Officer.  NFI 
reports are also checked with regard to information on the register of 
interests. 
 

11. 

 
 

 

 It has been confirmed with the HR Service that appropriate vetting 
checks are undertaken at the recruitment stage.  Relevant publications 
in this area of expertise, such as “Slipping through the Net: Staff vetting 
guide for local authorities”, have been considered and factored into 
working practices where appropriate. 
 

P
age 58



 
 

 
 
 

Yes No Comments and Actions 

12. 

 
 
 

 

 Both Members and staff should be aware of this requirement via the 
respective Codes of Conduct which are communicated globally and 
also form part of the Corporate Induction process.   
 
Compliance is monitored and reported as per the response to question 
10 above. 
 

13. 

 
 
 

 

 Aside from the responsibility placed on all staff and Elected Members 
to play their part in ensuring this culture is embedded in all Council 
activities via the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy, both Internal Audit 
and the Counter Fraud Team take a lead in supporting this culture 
through global communications, training, proactive and reactive work, 
liaison with other enforcement partners, prosecutions and financial 
recovery work. 
 

14. 

 
 

 

 A Whistleblowing Policy is in place and forms part of the wider Anti-
Fraud and Corruption Policy.  Internal Audit keeps a record of the 
number of referrals made under the policy.  Users of the policy are 
clearly signposted to external sources if they feel that is a better or 
more appropriate way of channelling their referral. 
 

15. 

 
 

 

 The standard terms and conditions of contract to which all contractors 
and third parties sign up to includes, in Section 3, an obligation to 
comply with all mandatory policies of the Authority, one of which is the  
Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy which includes the Whistleblowing 
Policy. The Whistleblowing Policy clearly states that no discrimination 
against whistle-blowers will be tolerated and their identity will be 
protected in line with their wishes.  
 

P
age 59



 
 

 
 
 

Yes No Comments and Actions 

16. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 Internal Audit work is directed by a risk based audit plan which 
supports the delivery of an overall opinion on the Council’s control 
environment, which includes an assessment of the management of 
fraud risks. Furthermore, a founding principle of the Counter Fraud 
Team is the Council’s desire to minimise fraud and maximise income 
for the Council. The complement of staff within this team continues to 
be assessed in the light of the risks assessed and outcomes achieved.  
 

17. 

 
 

 

 The work of the Internal Audit function is directed by an Annual Audit 
Plan which is approved by Audit and Governance Committee in April of 
each year. The remit of Internal Audit covers all services and activities 
undertaken by the Council, including the management of any 
relationships with third party contractors. The proactive anti-fraud remit 
of the Counter Fraud Team continues to be challenged and reviewed 
as new issues are identified and outcomes will continue to be reported 
through to Audit and Governance Committee.  

18. 

 
 

 

 Monthly reports are produced by the Counter Fraud Team in order to 
monitor and manage workload, levels of performance and outcomes.  
Reference to some of these outcomes is included within the main body 
of this report and updates are provided to Audit and Governance 
Committee via Internal Audit quarterly reports. Data is also made 
available externally in compliance with the Transparency Code. 
 

19. 

 
 

 

 Officers within Internal Audit have always had access to all areas of the 
Council in accordance with the Internal Audit Charter which is approved 
by the Audit and Governance Committee. Similarly, the Counter Fraud 
Team will be granted access to whatever confidential information is 
considered appropriate to further any investigations that they 
undertake. 
 

P
age 60



 
 

 
 
 

Yes No Comments and Actions 

20. 

 
 

 

 
Publication of such cases, particularly when a positive outcome is 
achieved by the Authority, is actively encouraged as evidenced by 
certain cases which were in the local public media following the issue 
of press releases by the Communications team.  

21. 

 
 

 

 A system is in place to risk assess referrals received by the Counter 
Fraud Team. Any referrals to Internal Audit are subject to an initial 
assessment to determine if further work is appropriate. 
 

22. 

 

 

 All these areas are covered within the Anti-Fraud and Corruption 
Policy, specifically in the Counter Fraud Prosecution and Sanction 
Policy, and covered within the work of the Counter Fraud Team and 
Internal Audit. 
 

23. 

 
 

 

 Aside from the Internal Audit Annual Plan which is approved by Audit 
and Governance Committee each March, the approach to and 
outcomes from the fraud response plan is communicated at least 
annually to Audit and Governance Committee in June/July of each 
year, with periodic updates provided where considered relevant and 
appropriate. Furthermore, the Counter Fraud Team reports directly to 
the Head of Internal Audit, and is co-located with Internal Audit on floor 
2 of No. 1 Riverside, which enhances the links between the two teams. 
 

P
age 61



 
 

 
 
 

Yes No Comments and Actions 

24. 

 
 
 
 

 

 This is always the case and has been evidenced by way of recovery via 
the Proceeds of Crime Act where appropriate. This is also 
demonstrated by the financial recoveries achieved by the Counter 
Fraud Team, supported by prosecutions where a fraud is proven. 

25. 

 
 
 
 

 

 The zero tolerance approach is a cornerstone of the Council’s Anti-
Fraud and Corruption Policy.  Reports to Committee are normally taken 
by the Head of Internal Audit on a quarterly basis and annually. 

26. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 Proactive work is factored into the work of the Counter Fraud Team, 
Partnership Enforcement Team and anti-fraud work within the wider 
Internal Audit function.  This work programme tackles most, if not all, of 
the areas identified as more susceptible to loss through fraud in 
accordance with existing knowledge, recent experience, current fraud 
risk assessments, intelligence from local networks and outputs from 
national publications. Specific areas covered by the Counter Fraud 
Team are set out in the main body of the report above. 

27. 

 
 
 

 

 Collaborative working is a key theme in the work of the Council’s 
Counter Fraud Team.  Please refer to the main body of this report for 
more detail e.g. involvement with the Partnership Enforcement Team 
(PET). 

P
age 62



 
 

 
 
 

Yes No Comments and Actions 

28. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 Examples of data sharing are in place, with this still being a growth 
area in terms of the desire to work as efficiently and effectively, not only 
to minimise the risk of fraud, but to deliver an overall better service to 
the citizens of the Borough via the Public Service Reform agenda.  
Safeguards are in place, and continue to be further developed, in order 
to ensure that data sharing is done legally e.g. Privacy Impact 
Assessments, Data Sharing Agreements and training for staff to 
understand their responsibilities in this regard. The operations of the 
Partnership Enforcement Team also involve close liaison with and 
sharing of relevant data with other enforcement agencies. 

29. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 Data analytics, i.e. the use of ICT facilities to process and analyse 
quantities of data is used in certain instances.  Examples of this in 
practice include analysing datasets relating to Council Tax Single 
Person Discount, Blue Badge, Payroll and Creditors. 
 
Output from data analytics exercises is either used to influence the 
direction of anti-fraud resources in terms of assisting with the more 
focused targeting of investigatory work, or by providing more timely and 
complete assurance to management where the output indicates no 
fraudulent activity. 
 

30. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 Internal Audit plays a lead role in facilitating the NFI process to ensure 
deadlines are achieved and appropriate action is taken on the data 
matches identified. Progress and outcomes are reported periodically to 
the Audit and Governance Committee as well as to the Chief Finance 
Officer and Portfolio Holder for Finance. 

P
age 63



 
 

 
 
 

Yes No Comments and Actions 

31. 

 
 

 

 The Counter Fraud Team has a mix of skills and experience, with all 
staff being appropriately trained and accredited commensurate with 
their job role.  Staff in Internal Audit that take responsibility with anti-
fraud matters are also appropriately accredited and/or trained to do so. 

32. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 The Counter Fraud Team comprises staff with a mix of knowledge and 
experience, some of whom have a strong depth of experience in the 
areas covered by anti-fraud work. This knowledge is shared within the 
team primarily through on the job training, supplemented by more 
formal training where considered necessary and appropriate. External 
training opportunities to enhance core skills and knowledge are also 
pursued on an ongoing basis. 

33.  

 
 

 

 Strong links are maintained with both internal and external enforcement 
agencies through the Partnership Enforcement Team which offers 
access to a wide variety of skills, knowledge and resource to support 
fraud investigatory work. The Police have offered the use of their 
financial investigators if required for Proceeds of Crime Act/ financial 
investigations. Alongside this, close links are made with the National 
Anti-Fraud Network which also provides specialist services where they 
may be required. 

P
age 64



 
 

 
 
 

Yes No Comments and Actions 

34. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 Reports covering instances of proven fraud always cover two areas: 

 the investigation into substantiating whether the fraud took 
place or not and who was responsible; and 

 an analysis of the root cause and what controls can be 
implemented to minimise future risk. 

 
In the event that control weaknesses are identified, actions are agreed 
with management to resolve these issues. Furthermore, where such 
weaknesses may apply to other Council Services, a more corporate 
audit report or communication may be issued to all Service areas to 
share the lessons learned and ensure that controls are embedded to 
mitigate the risk of such issues occurring in all Services. 

 
 
 

P
age 65



 

Report to Audit and Governance Committee 

 

 

Date of Meeting 23rd June 2020 
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Resources 
Report Author Ian Corbridge 
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

Internal Audit Annual Report 2019/20 

 

 

Executive Summary 

 

1. This report summarises the work of Internal Audit during 2019/20 and presents the 
Head of Internal Audit’s opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s overall control 
environment, governance and risk management for 2019/20. 
 

Of the 96% of the planned audit work that was completed during 2019/20, audit 
assurance opinions issued on the adequacy of the internal controls were recorded as 
‘adequate’ or ‘substantial’ in 97% of cases.  Two audits were awarded a ‘limited’ 
assurance opinion. Whilst these did not relate to the programme of material financial 
system audit reviews, a lack of compliance was identified in relation to the Council’s 
Key Decision processes which focus on access to information for Councillors and 
members of the public in relation to significant transactions. This therefore led to an 
impairment of overall transparency of the proposed procurement processes to 
Councillors and inhibited the potential for challenge or call in through the scrutiny 
process. A comprehensive action plan has been agreed by management to address 
all the issues highlighted in a timely manner.    
 

On this basis the Head of Internal Audit concluded that, with the exception of the lack 
of compliance with the Council’s Key Decision processes, an adequate level of 
assurance can be given that the Council's overall framework of governance, risk 
management and control remains appropriate and has been complied with.  

 

Recommendation 

 
2. 

 
To note the findings, conclusions and the overall opinion expressed by the Head of 
Internal Audit. 

 

Reason for Recommendation 

 

3. The findings and overall opinion of the Head of Internal Audit form a key element of 
the assurance provided to Members to enable them to approve the Annual 

Page 66

Agenda Item 9



Governance Statement and the Annual Statement of Accounts. 

 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4. 
 

The role and scope of Internal Audit 

4.1 The Internal Audit function discharges the statutory responsibilities delegated to the Chief 
Finance Officer  through Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and the Accounts 
and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 to undertake an effective internal audit of the 
Authority’s accounting records and of its system of internal control. The overall aims of 
Internal Audit are to provide an independent and objective opinion to management on the 
effectiveness of the Council’s overall control environment, governance and risk 
management by: 

 reviewing the adequacy of and identifying improvements in the Council’s systems; 

 adding value by identifying improvements in the use of resources; 

 helping embed a culture of appropriate risk management; and 

 supporting corporate aims and objectives.  

 
4.2 The risk based approach by Internal Audit is now well developed, taking account of the 

wider business risk, performance management and developments in risk management and 
corporate governance. Rochdale Council’s Internal Audit function works in accordance with 
and conforms to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 2016 (PSIAS). 

 
 
 
4.3 

 

Review of work carried out in 2019/20 
 
Internal Audit prepares an Annual Audit Plan of work to be carried out. This is based on the 
outcomes of extensive consultation, the Internal Audit Strategic Plan which details all 
potential areas at a corporate level and across all service areas within RBC and all related 
risk registers. The draft plan is discussed with Directors and their Service Management 
Teams (SMT). It is agreed by the Chief Finance Officer and approved by the Audit and 
Governance Committee. 
 

4.4 The key components of the actual audit work undertaken in 2019/20 compared to the 
original audit plan and the actual audit work undertaken in 2018/19 are summarised below. 

Type of Audit Work undertaken Actual 
2018/19 

Plan  
2019/20 

Actual 
2019/20 

 Days % Days % Days % 

Governance and Strategic  
Framework 

139 10 152 11 149 
 

11 

Material Systems 144 11 135 10 137 10 
Major Contracts, Partnerships and    

Procurement 
 

140 
 

10 
 

160 
 

12 
 

211 
 

15 
Information Governance and 

Computer Audit 
 

87 
 

6 
 

128 
 

10 
 

113 
 

8 
Schools 120 9 145 11 168 12 
Other Systems 500 36 338 25 355 26 
Audit Planning and Consultation 18 1 16 1 24 2 
External Organisations Work 36 3 32 2 53 4 
Unplanned Work        
 - Fraud & Irregularity 47 3 100 9 86 6 
 - Non – Fraud 154 11 100 9 75 6 
       

TOTAL 1,385 100 1306 100 1371 100 
 

Page 67



4.5 In order to respond to changes within Services, a number of adjustments were made to the 
audit plan during the year at the request of and in consultation with Services and members 
of the Audit and Governance Committee. In this regard certain audits were deferred until 
2020/21 in order to accommodate other audits focusing on emerging risks which assumed 
greater priority in terms of providing assurance on the overall control environment. In other 
areas, audits were deferred due to the fact that planned developments within Services had 
not yet taken place. The flexibility built into the audit planning process reflects the need to 
respond to the changing structures and risks inherent in a period of ongoing change for the 
Council. No audits that were deferred had any significant impact on providing this 
assurance. A summary of the outcomes of all audits included within the agreed Audit Plan is 
included within Appendix 1. 

 

4.6 
 
The key points to note when comparing actual days to plan in 2019/20 and actual days in 
2018/19 are: 
  

 The amount of time spent on areas relating to governance and the strategic framework 
continued to represent a core part of Internal Audit activity, reflecting the fact that more 
focus is directed towards high risk areas which have an impact right across the 
Authority;  

 

 The amount of time spent reviewing material systems continues to reflect the significant 
focus now being directed towards more in depth audits of the key financial systems, with 
scope and coverage varying on a cyclical basis depending upon the issues found during 
the course of each year;   

 

 The significant amount of time spent on major projects and procurement reflects the 
increased risks associated with this area in the current challenging economic climate 
and the period of significant change. Particular focus continues to be directed towards 
commissioning arrangements as new business models emerge within the integration of 
health and social care services, and also towards compliance with contract procedure 
rules and other associated regulations;  

 

 Time spent on computer audit areas was directed towards ensuring compliance with the 
Public Services Network, which is crucial to ongoing connectivity with key government 
systems, and seeking audit assurance on ICT system developments which support 
transformational change within Services, as well as areas such as information 
governance, ICT resilience and policy compliance;   

 

 Additional time was spent on external organisations work as Internal Audit was able to 
generate some additional external income through work undertaken for various schools; 
and 

 

 The time spent on school audits remains at a relatively high level in order to provide 
senior management with ongoing assurance on the controls in place across this sector, 
which has responsibility for significant amounts of funding. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68



Summary overview of audit coverage in 2019/20 
 

4.7 The diagram below illustrates the audit coverage within each Service during 2019/20.  
Details of final reports issued have been reported on a quarterly basis during the year to the 
Audit and Governance Committee as part of the governance framework. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

G
o

ve
rn

an
ce

 a
n

d
St

ra
te

gi
c…

In
te

gr
at

e
d

 H
e

al
th

an
d

 C
ar

e…

A
d

u
lt

 C
ar

e

C
h

ild
re

n
's

 -
 S

o
ci

al
C

ar
e

C
h

ild
re

n
's

 -
 E

ar
ly

Ye
ar

s

Ec
o

n
o

m
y

N
ei

gh
b

o
u

rh
o

o
d

s

P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
W

e
llb

ei
n

g

R
e

so
u

rc
e

s

Ex
te

rn
al

 In
co

m
e

Days

Actual Audit Coverage by Service

Unplanned

Planned

Page 69



 
 
4.8 

Audit opinions in audit reports 
 
In each Internal Audit report, Internal Audit provides a clear audit assurance opinion on how 

effectively risks are being managed in the area under review. These opinions are as follows: 

 

Assurance 

Opinion 

 Explanation 

Limited  
A number of key risks are not managed effectively. The control systems in 

operation are in need of significant improvement. 

Adequate  
The control systems in operation are generally sound. However, opportunities 

exist to improve the management of some risks. 

Substantial  There is a sound system of control in operation to manage risks effectively. 

 

4.9 
 
Set out in the table below is a summary of Audit Opinions issued in relation to reviews 

within Services during the year 2019/20. 

 

 

 

 

 

S
u

b
s
ta

n
ti
a

l 

A
d

e
q

u
a

te
 

L
im

it
e

d
 

T
o

ta
l 
(2

0
1

9
/2

0
) 

T
o
ta

l 
(2

0
1

8
/1

9
) 

Integrated Care and Commissioning 2 0 0 2 2 

Adult Care 3 4 1 8 6 

Children’s Services – Social Care 2 1 0 3 2 

Children’s Services – Early Help 12 11 1 24 16 

Economy  0 1 0 1 3 

Neighbourhoods 5 9 0 14 15 

Public Health and Wellbeing 0 0 0 0 3 

Resources 2 7 0 9 15 

Total (2019/20) 26 33 2 61 62 

Total (2018/19) 34 27 1 62  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The figures in the table above do not represent the full value of work undertaken within 
the Authority’s Services. Unplanned work (including fraud and irregularity) and advice 
and support do not generally result in an audit opinion and are not therefore 
represented in the above figures.   
 
The use of formal audit opinions on internal controls in audit reports continues to be 
well received by Services and Members as a concise way of summarising the audit 
outcome. Overall, 43% of the assurance opinions issued were “Substantial” (55% in 

Page 70



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

4.10 

2018/19) and 54% were “Adequate” (44% in 2018/19).  
 
A summary of the issues and actions arising from audits receiving a “Limited” 
assurance audit opinion is included in section 4.12 to 4.14 below. All such reports have 
been discussed with members of the Audit and Governance Committee during the 
course of the year and any subsequent follow up work on audit reports is also reflected 
in the summary of follow up audits included within each quarterly Internal Audit report. 
 
Internal Audit staffing 
 
The structure of the Internal Audit team throughout 2019/20 was as set out below: 

 

 

4.11 During 2019/20 the Head of Internal Audit also had responsibility for Risk Management 
and Counter Fraud with the Risk Manager and Counter Fraud Team Leader reporting 
directly to the Head of Internal Audit. Furthermore, the Insurance function also reports 
directly into the Risk Manager and therefore comes within the overall responsibility of 
the Head of Internal Audit. As set out within the Internal Audit Charter, any internal 
audit conducted in these areas with a view to providing assurance will be led by an 
Audit Manager reporting directly into the Chief Finance Officer in order to maintain the 
independence of views expressed by Internal Audit. The possibility of such audits 
being covered by external peer reviews from within the North West Chief Audit 
Executive Group is also a further option that can be utilised in the future. 
 

 
 
4.12 

Audit reviews with a limited assurance audit opinion 
 
Any reports which include significant issues or control weaknesses during the course of 
the year are brought to the attention of members of the Audit and Governance 
Committee for discussion. This will ensure that appropriate actions are taken to resolve 
these issues in a timely manner. Only one audit report with a limited assurance opinion 
was issued during 2019/20. Internal Audit has also completed follow up audits to 
confirm the implementation of actions arising from significant weaknesses highlighted 
in previous periods. The key issues arising which have been taken account of in terms 
of deriving an overall opinion on the effectiveness of the control environment are set 
out below. 
 

Page 71



4.13 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4.14 
 
 

Key Decisions and Exemptions from Contract Procedure Rules 
  (Director – Adult Social Care) 
 
A request was made by Adult Care management to provide assurance that Council 
policies and procedures are being complied with in respect of contract exemptions and 
that the Key Decision Framework is being adhered to. The audit focused on a sample 
of exemptions, modifications and Project Initiation Documents within Adult Care. 

 
The results of the audit concluded that the Adult Care service did not comply with 
statutory regulations and Council Constitution on taking Key Decisions due to a 
significant value of expenditure within Adult Care not being designated as a Key 
Decision. This area of non-compliance is focused on access to information for 
Councillors and members of the public in relation to such Key Decisions. This therefore 
leads to an impairment of overall transparency of the proposed procurement process to 
Councillors and inhibits the potential for challenge or call in through the scrutiny 
process. 
 
Additional audit work was then undertaken to review all contracts over the past 3 years 
which may have fallen within the definition of a Key Decision. This confirmed that non-
compliance with the Key Decision process was not confined to Adult and Public Health 
Services but did extend to other Directorates. However the audit did confirm that no 
significant issues were identified in relation to other elements of key governance 
processes within the procurement processes reviewed by Internal Audit. 
 
In order to address the issues identified, management developed a comprehensive 
action plan containing measures which will not only resolve the issues within Adult 
Care but will also have a wider corporate impact to ensure governance processes are 
further supported and enhanced in all Directorates going forward. Management agreed 
that all actions will be complete by 31 July 2020, with a number of the actions already 
now in place, and Internal Audit will continue to monitor progress to ensure timely 
completion, providing updates to Members as considered appropriate. 

 
Primary School 
  (Assistant Director – Early Help and Schools) 
 
In March 2020 an audit was undertaken on a primary school which highlighted 
weaknesses in fundamental internal controls and a limited assurance opinion was 
given. A substantial number of recommendations were made, including 9 of high 
priority and 8 of medium priority, to address improvements that needed to be made to 
the system of internal control to ensure it aligns with best practice. 
 
The high priority actions agreed were associated with the need to significantly improve 
governance processes relating to the procurement of services provided to the school, 
the selection of suppliers, the approval of payments and certain safeguarding 
measures associated with contracted workers attending the school. 
 
Further issues were identified which contributed to our opinion and from which an 
action plan was derived, including the following: 

 Ensuring the approval of key decisions, polices and other relevant documents 
were appropriately documented within the Governing Body minutes; 

 All key financial policies are subject to ongoing review and approval by the 
Governing Body; 

 More detailed budget monitoring reports should be made available to ensure 
Governors fulfil their financial management responsibilities more effectively; 

 A formal Development Plan should be developed and approved; and 

Page 72



 A written policy should be developed to provide more effective governance over 
the use of the school credit card. 

 
Internal Audit will continue to monitor the progress made in relation to the agreed 
actions and perform a follow up audit in 2020 and confirm the status to Members.  
 

Unplanned work 
 

4.15 Unplanned work includes investigations into suspected and actual irregularities, special 
assignments, audits not included within the agreed Audit Plan, and general advice and 
support. Unplanned work accounted for 12% (2018/19 - 15%) of all productive time 
with suspected fraud and irregularity investigations comprising approximately 53% 
(2018/19 - 23%) of this. A summary of the significant unplanned work completed (i.e. 
resulted in a report to management and where any related disciplinary or Police related 
issues have been formally concluded) during 2019/20 is set out in the following 
paragraphs.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             

 
 

 
Significant unplanned work (suspected fraud and irregularity) 

 

4.16 
 
In addition to issues previously reported by Internal Audit to the Audit and Governance 
Committee during the year, it is also noted that a number of preliminary investigations 
were undertaken during the year as a result of allegations made either by individuals or 
on an anonymous basis in conjunction with the Whistleblowing Policy. These 
investigations resulted in a variety of outcomes including: 

 No evidence could be found to support the allegations and, where the 
allegations were made by a known individual, direct communication was made 
with that individual; and 

 No evidence to support the allegations but enhancements to existing processes 
and controls were made to mitigate certain areas of risk in the future as 
identified during the investigation. 

 

 Significant unplanned work (non-fraud) 

4.17 Other significant audit work not included in the original Audit Plan included the following 

reviews: 

 

Audit Service Reported to A&G 

Committee 

Charitable Organisation Neighbourhoods 25 September 2019 

Integrity Due Diligence Neighbourhoods 16 December 2019 

Exemptions Resources 9 March 2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 73



 
 

 
 

4.18 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

4.19 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  Governance and risk management 
 
Governance 

Internal Audit assurance has been provided in various areas of governance 
throughout 2019/20 including the following: 

 Independent evaluation of the Annual Governance Statement to ensure it aligns 
with Internal Audit’s view on the control environment and the management of risks 
across the Authority; 

 Evaluation of responses from the annual Directors Governance Assurance 
Statement; 

 Membership and input to the Governance Board which provides an overall co-
ordinating role to ensure issues and developments associated with governance 
are progressed and challenged in a timely manner, including the monitoring of 
actions set out with the Annual Governance Statement 2018/19; 

 Full review of the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy to ensure it remains up to date 
and in line with relevant guidance and legislation; and 

 Annual audit assurance provided to confirm compliance with the data protection 
legislation and guidance, together with the requirements of the Public Services 
Network. 

 
Issues highlighted in relation to non-compliance with processes relating to key 
decisions and access to and transparency of such information are summarised in 
section 4.13. 
 

Risk management 

Internal Audit has continued to provide direct input into the development of the 
Council’s risk management processes and arrangements which have included the 
following: 

 Liaison with the Wider Leadership Team to refresh the Corporate Risk Register to 
ensure it remains up to date and aligned with the current structure and objectives 
of the Council, and continues to be reviewed and challenged on an ongoing basis;  

 Ongoing development of risk reporting protocols to ensure relevant information is 
fed into the quarterly Leadership Dashboard; 

 Ongoing liaison between the Head of Internal Audit and the Risk Manager to 
ensure that any key areas of risk emerging from Internal Audit work are 
communicated and considered for inclusion within relevant risk registers and any 
emerging Service based risks are considered as part of audit planning processes;  

 Ensuring Service risk registers continue to be challenged, reviewed and updated 
on an ongoing basis with appropriate support from Risk Management Groups and 
a network of Risk Champions covering all key Service areas; 

 The ongoing development of a joint Risk Management policy for the Heywood, 
Middleton and Rochdale Clinical Commissioning Group and the Council, including 
the agreement of a common risk scoring matrix and the intention of establishing a 
common risk strategy which should be in place during 2020/21; and 

 The development and implementation of a new risk management system, as part 
of the new Pentana performance manager system.  

 
Processes supporting governance and risk management are continuing to develop 
as Council Services and structures evolve. Internal Audit will continue to liaise 
closely with management both to support and critically appraise these processes on 
an ongoing basis. 

Page 74



 
 
4.20 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.21 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
4.22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.23 
 

 
Contract audit, procurement and commissioning 
 
The role of contract audit continues to develop as local authorities change methods 
of service delivery. In this regard, key audit activity completed in 2019/20 included:  

 Reviewing procurement processes and controls to evaluate the extent of 
compliance with relevant rules, regulations and best practice, including 
compliance with Contract Procedure Rules and the financial appraisal of 
tenderers;  

 An evaluation of commissioning of external placements within Children’s 
services; 

 An evaluation of STAR Quality Management Systems; 

 A review of the new vendor request process; 

 Compliance reviews relating to various Service based contractual arrangements; 

 Monitoring the development of integrated commissioning arrangements as part of 
the integration of health and social care services; 

 A review of the effectiveness of the Town Centre Programme Management 
Board; 

 An evaluation of the arrangements for dealing with procurement related contracts 
which are approaching expiry dates; and 

 Reviewing processes and controls associated with procurement exemptions. 
 
Various audits were completed to meet the terms of certain external grant funding 
contracts and therefore provide assurance that expenditure was in line with the 
terms of the grant funding arrangements. These included: 

 Disabled Facilities Capital Grant Determination 2018/19; 

 Disabled Facilities Capital Grant Determination Additional Funding 2018/19; 

 Local Growth Fund Determination 2018/19; and 

 Highways Incentive funding 2020/21. 
 
Counter fraud 
 
During the year Internal Audit has continued to develop and support a fraud 
awareness programme as part of an ongoing commitment to promote a more pro-
active and cohesive approach to the prevention and detection of fraud across the 
Authority. More detail is included within the Internal Audit Annual Fraud Report 
2019/20 presented to the Audit and Governance Committee on 23 June 2020. 
However specific areas covered in 2019/20 included: 

 Ongoing review and update of the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy (AFACP) in 
general terms to ensure it remains relevant in the context of changes in legislation 
and changes within the Authority; 

 Further update and promotion of the Whistleblowing Policy which forms part of 
the AFACP; 

 Co-ordination of the National Fraud Initiative to ensure that all relevant stages 
were completed within deadlines by 31 March 2020; 

 Co-ordination of a response to the Fighting Fraud Locally Checklist, to measure 
the Council’s culture and adherence to best practice, which was presented to the 
Audit and Governance Committee on 23 June 2020; 

 Liaison with Finance Service to develop areas of work using specialised software 
(AP Forensics) to minimise the risk of fraud within the creditor payment area; and 

 Maintaining the close links established with the Counter Fraud Team to ensure a 
co-ordinated approach to fraud is adopted. 
 

Counter fraud work covers many areas including culture, deterrence, prevention, 
detection, investigation, sanction and redress. Working on the premise that 

Page 75



 
 
 
 

 
 

4.24 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4.25 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

“prevention is better than cure”, Internal Audit adopt the approach that it is important 
to be as proactive as possible in terms of attempting to stop fraud before it occurs or 
to detect fraud as soon as possible. Being proactive and minimising fraud will assist 
in more optimal use of available resources either through reducing financial losses or 
more effective use of time. This approach is enhanced by the fact that the Counter 
Fraud Team reports directly into the Head of Internal Audit. 
 
CIPFA issued some best practice guidance on anti-fraud measures entitled 
Managing the Risk of Fraud, known as the Red Book. Within criteria 4.20 of the Red 
Book, a challenge is made as to whether proactive exercises are undertaken in key 
areas of fraud risk or known systems weaknesses. Within the response of RBC to 
the Red Book which was previously presented to the Audit Committee, RBC 
confirmed compliance to this criteria in the following ways: 

 Known system weaknesses are reviewed depending on the view of the 
associated risk and materiality; this is factored into the Internal Audit planning 
process; 

 Other proactive work includes an external company being employed to identify 
potential duplicate payments; 

 Use of IT data interrogation software by Internal Audit to assist in proactively 
identifying workplace fraud; 

 The Counter Fraud Team engage in various proactive anti-fraud exercises; and 

 RBC actively participates in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI), managed and co-
ordinated by Internal Audit, with appropriate follow up procedures in place. 

 
Audit performance indicators 

The following targets were set as part of the continuous improvement process. The 
table below compares actuals for 2019/20 against the targets for 2019/20 and the 
actuals for 2018/19. 
 

Performance Indicator 2018/19 2019/20 Improved? Target 
achieved?  Actual Target Actual 

Economy 

1. Cost per Audit Day (£) 250 260 237 YES YES 

 

2. Chargeable days per 
auditor 

194 190 202 YES YES 

3. Percentage of audit plan 
completed 

96 96 96 YES YES 

4. Percentage of draft audit 
reports issued within 14 
days of completion of the 
audit 

100 98 100 YES YES 

Effectiveness 

5. Percentage of 
recommendations 
accepted 

100 98 100 YES YES 

6. Results of client surveys 
- % of marks in the top two 
categories (i.e. very good 
& good) 

100 98 99 YES YES 

 

Page 76



 
 

4.26 
 
 
 

4.27 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4.28 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

4.29 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.30 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.31 
 
 
 

 

All performance indicators either achieved or were ahead of target for the year. 

Client surveys 

Client survey questionnaires are issued at the conclusion of each audit as part of 
Internal Audit’s quality control procedures. An analysis of returns showed that overall 
99% of the marks were in the good or very good category compared to 100% in 
2018/19. This high level reflects the continuing efforts made by Internal Audit to 
consult with client managers on audit coverage, to feedback findings during the audit 
and to seek to continually add value and improve the quality and presentation of 
audit reports.    
 
Liaison with external audit 
 
The arrangements between external audit (Mazars) and Internal Audit are supported 
by regular communication to ensure proper co-ordination and liaison in respect of 
audit activities. Periodic meetings are held between Internal Audit and Mazars to 
review progress in areas covered by the respective audit plans and to exchange 
information on any key local issues with audit implications.  This helps to mitigate the 
risk of any duplication in work and ensures more effective assurance is provided to 
those charged with responsibility for governance. In overall terms, the relationship 
between Internal Audit and external audit is established and works very well. 
 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 

There is a specific requirement to confirm the conformance of Internal Audit to these 
standards to the Audit and Governance Committee, and also to report any such non-
conformance to the Audit and Governance Committee. Furthermore, where such 
non-conformance impacts on the overall scope or operation of the internal audit 
activity, this should be disclosed within the Annual Governance Statement. 
The PSIAS require an external assessment to be carried out at least every five years 
by a qualified, independent assessor or assessment team from outside the 
organisation. In order to fulfil this, a Peer Review process has been established by 
the North West Chief Audit Executive Group. A Peer Review of RBC Internal Audit 
was concluded on 4 December 2017 confirming that RBC Internal Audit conforms to 
the PSIAS. 
 
As a result of the internal Quality Assurance Improvement Programme, which forms 
a key part of the PSIAS, some ongoing actions have been identified to: 

 Continue to review and challenge the QAIP in the light of experience and best 
practice identified through liaison with other Internal Audit teams in the North 
West; and 

  Continue to identify training opportunities which align specifically with new and 
emerging challenges posed by changes within Council services and new ways 
of working, and which also support development needs of individual Internal 
Audit staff. 

 
Other external and internal sources of assurance 
 
Aside from the assurances provided by both Internal Audit and external audit over 
the adequacy of the controls in place to manage key risks, there are numerous 
internal mechanisms through which management are able to provide their own 
assurances that the risks that they have ownership of are being managed effectively. 

Page 77



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4.32 
 
 
 
 

4.33 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4.34 
 
 
 

 
 
4.35 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.36 
 

In addition there are also assurances provided by various external bodies which are 
independent of the organisation. In order to recognise the contribution that these 
other sources of assurance have on the overall opinion of the control environment, 
Internal Audit has produced an Assurance Map (attached as Appendix 2) using the 
“three lines of defence model” as a basis for evaluating assurances over the 
management of the risks set out within the Corporate Risk Register. This model 
represents the three main levels of control/ assurance that should exist in any 
organisation such as Rochdale Council, namely: 

 First line -  the risk and control environment that management has 
established to control day-to-day activities; 

 Second line – oversight functions that co-ordinate, facilitate and provide 
assurance over the risk and control environment, including policies, 
procedures and guidance; and  

 Third line – assurance provided by bodies who are independent of the front 
line Services and operations, both internally (Internal Audit) and externally 
(such as Ofsted, CQC etc). Such assurances are generally derived from and 
documented in reports. Internal Audit continues to liaise with senior 
management in each Directorate to obtain copies of relevant reports and 
external assurance work programmes to confirm that no issues arise which 
may influence or compromise the annual opinion of the Head of Internal 
Audit. As a consequence, reliance has been placed on these various external 
assurances in forming the Head of Internal Audit’s opinion. 

 
As this Map is designed to be a colour coded representation of the quality/ level of 
assurance derived from the various controls against each risk, a rating of red, amber 
or green has been applied by senior management based upon the guidance set out 
on the Map. 
 
To complement the above, an Assurance Framework document (attached as 
Appendix 3) has been developed to show in more pictorial form how the core areas 
which contribute to overall assurance link through to the work of the Governance 
Board and ultimately the production and approval of the Annual Governance 
Statement. 
 
Internal Audit Opinion Statement 2019/20 
 
The Internal Audit Plan for 2019/20 has been completed in accordance with the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. This Audit Plan comprised a range of 
assignments including reviews of all material financial systems, as part of our 
managed audit arrangements with external audit, and a range of risk and compliance 
based audits to provide assurance on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Council’s framework of governance, risk management and control. 
 
The planned audit coverage for the year was based on an assessment of risks. 
Planned work has also been supplemented by ad hoc reviews in respect of 
suspected irregularities and other work commissioned by officers and Members of 
the Council, together with assurances derived from work conducted by independent 
review bodies and internal assurance mechanisms. Given the ongoing significant 
changes and risks being experienced by the Council throughout 2019/20, the Head 
of Internal Audit has continuously reviewed the risks associated with the Council’s 
operations and has allocated the necessary resources, via the Audit Plan, to form an 
opinion on the Council’s governance arrangements. There have not been any 
limitations placed on the scope of Internal Audit work completed during the year. 
 
Of the planned audit work completed during 2019/20, audit assurance opinions 
issued on the adequacy of the internal controls were recorded as 'adequate' or 

Page 78



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
4.37 
 
 
 
 
 
 

‘substantial’ in 96.7% of cases (98.3% in 2018/19). Two audits were awarded a 
‘limited’ assurance opinion. Whilst these did not relate to the programme of material 
financial system audit reviews, a lack of compliance was identified in relation to the 
Council’s Key Decision processes which focus on access to information for 
Councillors and members of the public in relation to significant transactions. This 
therefore led to an impairment of overall transparency of the proposed procurement 
processes to Councillors and inhibited the potential for challenge or call in through 
the scrutiny process. In terms of issues identified from Internal Audit work 
undertaken during the course of the year, it was considered appropriate to make 
reference to these issues within the Annual Governance Statement.  
  
Whilst no systems of control can provide absolute assurance, on the basis of the 
work undertaken in 2019/20 covering financial and operating systems, risk 
management and governance, the Head of Internal Audit concluded that, with the 
exception of the lack of compliance with the Council’s Key Decision processes, an 
adequate level of assurance can be given that the Council's overall framework of 
governance, risk management and control remains appropriate and has been 
complied with. 
 

 

         

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. Not applicable. 

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6. The only implications on risk are those issues that have been highlighted by Internal 

Audit during the year. In this regard, these risks will be mitigated by completion of 
the actions agreed with management and summarised within the respective 
quarterly reports to this Committee. 
 

Consultation 

 
7. No direct consultation has been undertaken. However the outcomes from and 

conclusions drawn by a number of external assurance providers have been taken 
account of within the overall opinion expressed by the Head of Internal Audit. 

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8. 
None  

 

For Further Information Contact: Ian Corbridge, Tel: 01706925452, 
ian.corbridge@rochdale.gov.uk 

 

Page 79



Rochdale Borough Council Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 - Summary of Outcomes                                                                                                                  Appendix 1

Core/ 

Assurance
Final date

Assurance  

(S/ A/ L)

INTEGRATED HEALTH AND CARE COMMISSIONING

1 Governance Structures and Processes H Core 03/02/20 S Completed by MIAA

2 Strategic Commissioning Function H Core
Carried 

forward
In progress - to be completed by MIAA in 2020/21

3 Pooled budget H Core 29/07/19 S Completed by MIAA

ADULT CARE

4 ALLIS M Assurance Deferred
Agreed with management to defer audit to 2020/21 

Audit Plan in view of current system developments.

5 ContrOCC M Core A

6 Deprivation of Liberty (DoL) H Assurance Deferred

DoL model is due to be replaced by Liberty 

Protection Safeguards process which is due for 

implementation by October 2020 so agreed to defer 

the audit to 2020/21 Audit Plan. 

7 Assistive Technology (Home Improvement Agency) H Assurance A

8 FLARE M Core 10/09/19 S

9 Residential Care Payments M Core 02/01/20 S

B/F Safeguarding H Assurance 18/09/19 A

B/F Data Integrity H Assurance 23/07/19 A

10 Quality Assurance Framework M Assurance
Carried 

forward
In progress - to be completed in 2020/21

11
Commissioning Cycle - Key Decisions and Exemptions 

from Contract Procedure Rules
H Assurance 09/04/20 L

12
Disabled Facilities Capital Grant Determination 2018-19 & 

DFCGD Additional Funding 2018-19
L Assurance 17/06/19 S

CHILDREN'S SERVICES - CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE

13 Commissioning of External Placements H Core 11/11/19 A

B/F Youth Offending Service M Assurance 25/09/19 S

B/F Recruitment and Retention of Foster Carers H Assurance 17/05/19 S

14 Post 16 Supported Accommodation H Assurance
Carried 

forward
In progress - to be completed in 2020/21

15 Special Guardianship Orders M Assurance Deferred
Deferred to 2020/21 Audit Plan due to new policies 

and procedures being implemented in 2020.

16 Assessed and Supported Year in Employment Grant L Core Deleted Grant certification not required in 2019/20

CHILDREN’S SERVICES - EARLY HELP, PREVENTION 

AND PARTNERSHIPS

17 Troubled Families M Assurance 22/11/19 S

18 Music Service M Assurance 22/11/19 A

19 Collaborative Schools L Assurance 29/11/19 A

S - 10

18 schools A - 7

L - 1

S - 1 

A - 1

B/F Funding for SEN Children M Assurance 09/07/19 N/A
Focus of the review was to identify and share good 

practice

B/F Rochdale Additional Needs Service L Assurance 26/07/19 A

22 General advice and liaison with Schools Service L Assurance N/A

PUBLIC HEALTH AND WELLBEING

23 Link4Life Client Management M Core Deferred

Deferred to 2020/21 Audit Plan due to the delay in 

the development and implementation of the new 

contract

NEIGHBOURHOODS

24 Public Protection M Assurance 02/03/20 A

25 Procurement of Utility Contracts M Assurance A

26 Business Continuity M Assurance
Carried 

forward

Carried forward into 2020/21 in view of Covid-19 

situation which made completion of the audit 

impossible. This will allow further consideration of 

the impact of lockdown etc to form part of the policy 

going forward.

27
Enforcement (Environmental Action Unit) - Public Space 

Protection Order
L Assurance 28/04/20 A

28 Traffic Regulation Orders M Assurance 23/01/20 S

29 Fleet Management System M Assurance Deferred
Agreed to defer to 2020/21 Audit Plan due to delays 

in fully implementing the new system

30 CCTV L Assurance Deferred
Deferred to 2020/21 Audit Plan due to delays in the 

self-assessment process

31

Local Transport Capital Block Funding (Integrated 

Transport and Highway Maintenance) Specific Grant 

Determination 2018/19

L Core Deleted Grant certification not required in 2019/20

32 Highways Incentive Funding 2020/21 L Core 27/02/20 S

33 Local Growth Fund Determination 2018-19 L Core 16/12/19 S

ADD Patrol Parking Audit 2018/19 L Core 17/04/19 S Certification of returns

34
Devolved Transport Funding Certification (Pothole Action 

Fund 2018-19)
L Core Deleted Grant certification not required in 2019/20

35 Cycle City Ambition Grant Determination L Core Deleted Grant certification not required in 2019/20

Notes

2 schools

Risk

21 AssuranceLSecondary schools (2)

AssuranceLPrimary schools (18)20

Audit Brief

P
age 80



Core/ 

Assurance
Final date

Assurance  

(S/ A/ L) NotesRiskAudit Brief

INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY

36 Public Services Network H Core Deferred

Deferred to 2020/21 Audit Plan due to technical 

issues relating to implementing the IT Health Check 

remotely to complete annual submission to Cabinet 

Office

37 Customer Transformation Programme M Assurance 02/09/19 S

38 ICT Strategy M Assurance A

39 IT Security M Assurance 13/11/19 A

40 IT Change Management M Assurance A

41 Data Security and Protection Toolkit (DSP) H Core 17/10/19 A

42 Cyber Security H Assurance 20/01/20 A

B/F Information Governance/ GDPR H Core 16/05/19 A

43 Information Governance/ GDPR - Records Management H Core
Carried 

forward

Carried forward into 2020/21 due to impact of 

investigation work and Covid-19

44 GDPR Compliance in Schools H Core Deleted

Agreed to develop extra testing to include in future 

schools audits as a means of covering relevant 

issues and providing assurance.

ECONOMY

45 Business Improvement District (BID) L Assurance Deleted
Total levy only £185k so no significant risk. To 

consider audit in future years. 

B/F Town Centre Programme Management Board (Economy) M Assurance 08/08/19 A

RESOURCES

46 Annual payroll returns and pension scheme certification M Core 05/06/19 S

47 Council Tax/ Business Rates M Core 26/02/20 S

48a STAR Performance Management Arrangements M Core 14/08/19 A Completed by Stockport MBC Internal Audit.

48b STAR New Vendor Request Process M Core 17/03/20 A

B/F
STAR Procurement Contracts Register (Management of 

Contract Renewals)
M Core 15/08/19 A

49 Housing Benefit Subsidy M Core 12/09/19 A

50 Coordination and support for key policies N/A Assurance N/A

51 Corporate Debt Management M Core A

52 Operating expenditure/ Creditors M Core 24/04/20 A

53 Payroll - Honorarium and Substitution Scheme M Core 09/10/19 A

P
age 81



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL - ASSURANCE MAP 1st line of defence 2nd line of defence 3rd line of defence

Appendix 2 Delivering the risk and control environment Other oversight and assurance functions Independent assurance/ advice

First line

(more knowledge, less independence)

Identifying risks and improvement actions; implementing 

controls; reporting on progress; management assurance

Second line

(more objective, but not wholly independent)

Designing policies; setting direction, ensuring 

compliance; assurance oversight

Third line

(objective and independent)

Independent challenge; audit; reporting on 

assurance

Ref Risk Owner Service Based Management Controls Corporate and Management Oversight Independent and Objective

Inherent Residual

CRR0002
A catastrophic event and lack of organisational 

resilience leads to inability to deliver our services, 

to then support and protect the wider community 

and to rebuild the infrastructure (Operational) 

20 12
Mark 

Widdup

Training and excercising offered to service business 

continuity  leads to support the maintenance and 

suitability of service BC plans  

Corporate business continuity plan, refreshed 

and checked for accuracy annually

Independent assurance provided by Internal 

Audit   

Themed plans (i.e. rest centres, flooding, Turner 

Brothers site) for specific purposes  
Annual excercises arranged to test plans    

Resilience self-assessment audit undertaken 

annually by the Cabinet Office

Training, briefing and exercises carried out for Silver 

and Forward Incident officers

Periodic corporate business continuity desk top 

exercise

PSN  (Public Services Network)  Compliance and 

PCI DSS (Payment Card Industry Data Security 

Standards) Compliance annually

Resilience of ICT systems is periodically tested
Emergency plan refreshed annually, 

communicated and understood

Business continuity plans are peer reviewed 

annually by the Civil Contingencies and 

Resilience Unit

Risk Management Strategy embedded and supports 

all decision making   

Multi-agency resilience forum in place to debrief 

incidents and conduct exercises   

CRR0008 Risk of serious harm to or death of a child due to 

the act or omission by Council employees 

(Compliance/ Legal)         

20 15
Gail 

Hopper

Critical Incident Reporting Framework in place and 

embedded
Local Safeguarding Children Board in place 

which provides robust challenge   
Independent Ofsted inspections   

Workforce Development Strategy - training and 

support provided to staff

Performance/ Quality Assurance Framework is 

fully embedded   

Regional Support and Challenge including Peer 

Reviews
Local Authority provides advice/ monitoring and 

training on safe practice in schools
Early Help Strategy is refreshed and re-launched

Internal Audit reviews of systems, processes and 

controls
Effective management oversight and supervision of 

staff
Ongoing and robust management of external/ 

commissioned service providers

Risk Management Strategy embedded and supports 

all decision making   

CRR0009 Risk of serious harm to or death of a vulnerable 

adult due to the act or omission by Council 

employees (Compliance/ Legal)  

20 15
Sally 

McIvor
Effective management and supervision of staff   

Adult Safeguarding Board in place which 

provides robust challenge   

Independent reviews by the Care Quality 

Commission (CQC)   

Robust contract management procedures Quality assurance process in place Regional support and peer challenge    

Recruitment and retention plan for qualified social 

workers 

Adult Care Safeguarding Policy is communicated 

and followed   

Internal Audit reviews of systems, processes and 

controls

Training strategy and development plans in place for 

staff

Robust and regular safeguarding and case file 

audits   

Risk Management Strategy embedded and supports 

all decision making   

Framework in place for the management and 

oversight of professional social work practice 

standards

Ongoing sharing of intelligence information with 

CQC and other partners
 

CRR0001 Failure to maintain or gaps within corporate 

governance lead to risk of litigation, fraud/ 

malpractice, poor decision making or judicial 

review, causing serious service and financial 

failure (Compliance/ Legal) 

16 6
David 

Wilcock

Risk Management Strategy embedded and supports 

all decision making   

Code of Corporate Governance communicated, 

understood and followed

Oversight and challenge by an effective Audit 

and Governance Committee 

Scheme of delegation which is clear, understood and 

being followed

Governance Board providing challenge to and co-

ordination of all governance issues   

Independent assurance provided by Internal 

Audit   
Contract procedure rules which are clear, understood 

and being followed

Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy communicated, 

understood and followed

Independent assurance provided by external 

Audit   

Codes of Conduct for Members and Officers which 

are clear, understood and followed

Performance Management arrangements which 

promotes accountability and outcome monitoring 

is embedded

Independent assurance provided by external 

assessors (Ofsted, Care Quality Commission 

etc.)   

Risk Assessment

P
age 82



First line

(more knowledge, less independence)

Identifying risks and improvement actions; implementing 

controls; reporting on progress; management assurance

Second line

(more objective, but not wholly independent)

Designing policies; setting direction, ensuring 

compliance; assurance oversight

Third line

(objective and independent)

Independent challenge; audit; reporting on 

assurance

Ref Risk Owner Service Based Management Controls Corporate and Management Oversight Independent and Objective

Inherent Residual

Risk Assessment

Information Governance Framework which 

supports compliance with all data control 

requirements is embedded

Independent assurance on information 

governance and data protection from an 

Information Commissioner's Office Consensual 

Audit
Independent assurance from a Corporate Peer 

Challenge

Independent assurance on Internal Audit from a 

Peer Review every 5 years

P
age 83



First line

(more knowledge, less independence)

Identifying risks and improvement actions; implementing 

controls; reporting on progress; management assurance

Second line

(more objective, but not wholly independent)

Designing policies; setting direction, ensuring 

compliance; assurance oversight

Third line

(objective and independent)

Independent challenge; audit; reporting on 

assurance

Ref Risk Owner Service Based Management Controls Corporate and Management Oversight Independent and Objective

Inherent Residual

Risk Assessment

CRR0003 Budget reductions required do not leave enough 

budget to deliver statutory services and to achieve 

balanced budget leading to a failure in legal duty 

(Strategic) 

16 9
Julie 

Murphy

Budget monitoring embedded which pro-actively 

highlights financial challenges   

Medium Term Financial Strategy updated bi-

annually and approved by Cabinet and Council   

Regular reports to Wider Leadership, Cabinet, 

Overview and Scrutiny and Council on budget 

position locally and nationally

Treasury Management Policy embedded and adhered 

to

Corporate Plan established which provides 

strategic direction for services   

s151 Officer Report presented to Council 

annually prior to budget setting   

Risk Management Strategy embedded and supports 

all decision making   

Organisational Development Strategy in place 

which aligns strategy, people and processes
External audit financial resilience assessment   

Corporate approach to addressing budget 

challenges (offices and Members working 

together)   

CRR0004 Ineffective financial management and resilience 

leads to the Council significantly overspending the 

annual budget (Strategic)
16 6

Julie 

Murphy

Budget monitoring embedded which pro-actively 

highlights financial challenges   

Medium Term Financial Strategy updated every 6 

months and approved by Cabinet and Council   

Regular reports to Wider Leadership, Cabinet, 

Overview and Scrutiny and Council on budget 

position locally and nationally

Treasury Management Policy embedded and adhered 

to

Corporate Plan established which provides 

strategic direction for services   

s151 Officer Report presented to Council 

annually prior to budget setting   

Risk Management Strategy embedded and supports 

all decision making   

Organisational Development Strategy in place 

which aligns strategy, people and processes
External audit financial resilience assessment   

Corporate approach to addressing budget 

challenges (offices and Members working 

together)   

Internal Audit reviews of systems, processes and 

controls

CRR0007 Risk of a breakdown in community stability 

(Operational) 
16 12

Mark 

Widdup

Extensive partnerships developed and maintained 

enabling networking and intelligence sharing, e.g. 

active citizens and multi-faith forums   

Consequence Management Group established 

and provides early intervention on community 

tensions and develop cohesion and diversionary 

activities

Police neighbourhood surveys reported to the 

Rochdale Safer Communities Partnership 

(RSCP)

Cohesion Hub and Consequence Management 

process in place

Community Cohesion Pledge signed by elected 

Members and Community Representatives

Hate crime reports to RSCP for schools and 

communities

Weekly tension monitoring and trigger plans in place
Joint working with Greater Manchester 

authorities to monitor and mitigate risks    

CRR0010 Failure to take opportunities for growth leading to 

a lack of investment in the Borough and lower 

levels of regeneration and prosperity (Operational)
16 9

John 

Searle

Programme/ project management principles are 

applied consistently   

Medium Term Financial Plan is comprehensive 

and regularly updated   

Oversight and challenge of major projects and 

decisions by Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee   

Risk Management Strategy embedded and supports 

all decision making   

Asset Management Plan is established, 

monitored and regularly updated   

Independent assurance provided by Internal 

Audit   

Maximise opportunities for good news   

Advice and assurance provided through both 

Rochdale Development Agency and procured 

independent specialist commercial and legal 

advice
Early warning protocol agreed for identifying potential 

bad news

CRR0005 Failure of, or lack of compliance with, health and 

safety systems leads to harm to an individual and a 

corporate manslaughter/ homicide conviction 

(Compliance/ Legal) 

12 8
Neil 

Thornton

Learning and development provided to whole 

workforce, primarily through e-learning   

Corporate Health and Safety Policy is clear, 

understood and being followed   

Independent assurance provided by Internal 

Audit   

In house team of Health and Safety Advisers who link 

into the Central Health and Safety Committee   

Comprehensive health and well-being policies in 

place and adhered to   

Liaison with Health and Safety Executive to ensure 

risk and issues highlighted and addressed   

Risk Management Strategy embedded and supports 

all decision making   

Member training regularly updated, fully attended and 

understood   

CRR0006 Risk that Council and Devolution  Manchester 

priorities are not fully aligned - (Operational) 12 8
Steve 

Rumbelow

Officer representation on working groups dealing with 

CA/AGMA/Devolution issues as appropriate   

Chief Executive is a member of AGMA WLT 

(Meeting of GM Chief Executives)   

Elected members from Rochdale BC sit on 

Scrutiny Panel   

P
age 84



First line

(more knowledge, less independence)

Identifying risks and improvement actions; implementing 

controls; reporting on progress; management assurance

Second line

(more objective, but not wholly independent)

Designing policies; setting direction, ensuring 

compliance; assurance oversight

Third line

(objective and independent)

Independent challenge; audit; reporting on 

assurance

Ref Risk Owner Service Based Management Controls Corporate and Management Oversight Independent and Objective

Inherent Residual

Risk Assessment

Leader is a member of formally constituted GM 

Combined Authority with other Council Leaders 

and Mayor   

Level of Assurance
1st and 2nd lines of defence 

(process based assessment)

3rd line of defence 

(results based assessment)

SUBSTANTIAL - Controls in place assessed as 

adequate/ effective and in proportion to the risks

SUBSTANTIAL - Mainly positive results, many 

strengths, minor recommendations for improvement

ADEQUATE - some areas of concern over the 

adequacy/ effectiveness of the controls in proportion 

to the risks

ADEQUATE - Mixed results, some areas of concern 

and areas for improvement, some positive results 

and some strengths

LIMITED - Significant concerns over the adequacy/ 

effectiveness of the controls in proportion to the risks

LIMITED - Overall negative results and areas of 

concern, requiring action and improvement

Not applicable or not in place yet Not applicable or not in place yet

P
age 85



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL - OVERALL ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 2020   Appendix 3
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                                                
 
  

                                                                                                                                            Review Function of  
                                                                                                                                            Governance Board               

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Performance 
Management 
 

 Service Planning 
 Performance 

Management 
Framework 

 Performance 
Development Plans 

 Performance reporting 
framework 

 Scrutiny Committees 
and scrutiny reviews 

 Organisational 
Development Strategy 

 Project Management 
 Workforce 

Development Strategy 

Internal Audit 
 

 
 

 Head of Internal 
Audit opinion 
expressed in annual 
report to Audit and 
Governance 
Committee. 

 Operates in 
accordance with 
Public Sector 
Internal Audit 
Standards 

 Risk-based audit 
plan approved by 
Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 
 

External Audit 
and Inspection 
 

 Annual Plan  
 Annual Audit Letter 
 Audit Opinion 
 Value for Money 

Opinion 
 Grant certifications 

 

Assurance by 
Managers 
 

 Annual Director 
Assurance 
Statements 

 Periodic reports 
 Assurance cascaded 

through all 
employees 

 Control and risk 
assessments 

 Quality Assurance 
frameworks 

 In-house Service 
reviews 
 

 

Risk Management 
and Business 
Continuity Plans 
 

 Risk Management 
Strategy, Framework 
and Policy 

 Risk embedded in 
policies, plans and 
project management 

 Effectiveness evaluated 
 Approval and 

monitoring of Corporate 
and Service risk 
registers 

 Risk monitoring reports 
 Consider business 

continuity and 
insurance 
arrangements. 

Other Sources of 
Assurance 
 

 Fraud Reports and 
investigations 

 Reports by 
inspectors 

 Post implementation 
reviews 

 Ombudsman reports 
 Ofsted 
 Care Quality 

Commission 
 HM Customs 
 Food Standards 

Agency 
 Department of 

Health 
 Peer reviews 

Significant 
Partners/ 
Associated 
Bodies 
 

 Client Monitoring 
role 

 Performance 
management 
standards and 
monitoring 

 Review of Council’s 
governance 
arrangements 

 Internal and 
external audit 
reviews 

 

 

Internal Control Framework 
 Constitution and Standing Orders 
 Code of Corporate Governance 
 Statutory Officers 
 Corporate Plan detailing high level objectives and priorities 
 Service Planning Framework 
 Information Governance Framework 
 Data Quality Strategy 
 Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 Annual Budget and Budgetary Control 
 Project Management 
 Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy (including Whistleblowing) 
 Codes of Conduct (Members/Officers) 

 

Review of draft AGS and 

supporting evidence by Governance 
Board and recommendation of 
approval to Audit and Governance 
Committee. 

Annual Governance Statement 
(AGS) (Signed by Leader and Chief 

Executive)  
Published with the Statement of 
Accounts 

 

Governance Board with responsibility 

for: reviewing controls; drafting AGS; 
evaluating assurances; and supporting 
evidence. 
(Group includes Monitoring Officer,Chief 
Finance Officer, Head of Internal Audit, 
Head of Governance, Senior Information 
Risk Owner, Information Governance 
Manager and Risk Manager) 

Directorate Plans 
Policies and procedures; Performance Management; 
Risk Management Strategy 

P
age 86



  Report to Audit and Governance Committee 
 

 

Date of Meeting 23 June 2020 
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Resources 
Report Author Martin Nixon 
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

Risk Management Annual Report 2019/20 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1. This report provides a summary of Risk Management and Insurance work 

during the 2019/20 year. 
 
The Leadership team has been informed of progress on the highest priority 
risks across the organisation via updates from the Risk Manager regarding 
high-scoring Service risks, and the management of the overarching Corporate 
risk register. 
 
The Insurance team is successfully handling incoming claims and the 
placement of the Council’s insurance programme cost-effectively. The report 
confirms how the team has achieved a total cost-mitigation on settled claims 
for the year of £2,194,634.64. 

 

Recommendation 

 
2. 

 
This report is for the information of Members to confirm the level of assurance 
provided through the management of risk and insurance services. 

 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3. This report is to enable the Audit and Governance Committee, in accordance 

with their work programme and oversight of governance, to scrutinise Risk 
Management and Insurance Team coverage during the 2019/20 year for all 
Council Services. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 87

Agenda Item 10



Key Points for Consideration 

 
4. 
 
 
 
 
 
4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6 
 

6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Risk Management Framework 
 
The following points relate to developments within the Risk Management 
Framework, which is defined as how risk management links with other 
organisational strategies such as planning, governance and reporting.    
  
Risk Management Group 
The Risk Management Group (RMG) enabled dialogue, training and sharing of 
best practice with Service risk champions, representing 29 Services holding 
risk registers within Rochdale Council’s risk management structure. Meetings 
in 2020/21 included consultation on features required from the new Pentana 
software system and then training on the system once implemented. 
 
Reporting of Risks 
Risk register information is used to coordinate risk discussions at SMT 
meetings across various Council directorates. 
 
The Risk Manager also provides update reports to the Governance Board 
and all Audit and Governance Committee meetings, ensuring that both 
bodies are able to provide independent challenge to risk activity. 
 
Quarterly risk management updates to Leadership Team enable discussion 
within meetings on developments in the Corporate risk register, on the 
highest ranking Service risks, and on compliance with risk review 
timescales. 
 
Corporate Risk Register 

 The Leadership Team have responsibility for management of the large-scale 
risks listed under the Corporate Risk Register. Risk issues are discussed by 
Directors regularly in Leadership Team meetings (see point 4.2 above), and 
periodic reviews of individual risks and mitigation actions are carried out by 
owners through the year. A temporary ‘hands off’ period (from March to June 
2020) to be observed while improvements are implemented to the Pentana 
software system has delayed the completion of risk reviews. It is 
acknowledged that risk scores under the Corporate register require re-
assessment to reflect the impact of the Covid-19 virus and risks are to be 
reviewed as a priority. 
 
The Corporate Risk Register is attached as Appendix 1. 
 
Service Risk Management 
  
Coverage of RBC Service Risk Registers 
Management utilisation of risk registers in decision-making is evidenced by the 
maintenance of 29 Service risk registers across the organisation. Discussions 
have recently been held with the manager of the Customer Transformation 
Programme to hold workshops with the intention of preparing a new risk 
register relevant to the various CTP projects. 
 

Page 88



6.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7 
 
7.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Integrated Care Risk Management 
The project management (PMO) team of the Heywood Middleton and 
Rochdale Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) worked alongside the Risk and 
Insurance Manager as part of the implementation group to configure the new 
Pentana software system. The new system allows shared access to risks and 
performance indicators that the Council and CCG are managing in partnership. 
 
Both organisations have worked collaboratively on a programme of service 
integration and transformation across Rochdale’s health and social care 
services. Integrated care risks are owned jointly by the CCG, the Health 
Provider Services and the Council and therefore the shared access to partner 
risks would allow combined governance and monitoring procedures. 
 
Integrated health and social care risks are currently reported by the CCG PMO 
team to the Integrated Commissioning Board on a monthly basis. A joint 
Rochdale BC / HMR CCG Risk Management Policy is still in development. 
 
Developing Risk Management Effectiveness 
 
Risk Management Training 
The Risk Manager has delivered ad hoc risk management training to Council 
managers and officers. The most significant training requirement during 
2019/20 has been Pentana training rolled out by the Risk Manager at the 
system launch in July 2019.  
  
Risk Management training for new Members of the Audit and Governance 
Committee was delivered on 9 March 2019.  
 
Risk Advice in Priority Service Areas 
a) EU Exit planning 
The Risk Manager contributed to the multi-agency impact assessment process 
employed as part of Rochdale’s EU Exit planning activities during 2019/20. 
Rochdale’s Lead Brexit Officer also participated in GM Resilience forums to 
facilitate wider coordination between GM agencies. 
 
b) Covid-19 Programme Management 
The Risk Manager provided guidance and advice to assist in the coordination 
of multi-agency risks associated with Rochdale’s Covid-19 response during 
2019/20 Q4. 
 
Implementation of the Pentana Risk Software 
 
Following development work by an implementation group consisting of 
colleagues in the Risk Management, Corporate Policy, ICT Services and HMR 
CCG teams, the new Pentana Risk system was launched on 1st July 2019. The 
new software is used for the monitoring of performance and risk outcomes 
across the Council and CCG. 
 
All existing Council and integrated health and social care risk data was 
migrated to Pentana to ensure there was no loss of access to historical risk 
information. User training has been delivered to risk owners allowing 

Page 89



 
 
 
 
 
8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9. 
 

9.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

uninterrupted risk review activity in service teams. More recently users have 
been requested to observe a short ‘hands off’ period (from March to June 
2020) while initial problems with on-screen visibility and reporting are corrected 
by the product suppliers. 
 
Risk Management Results 
 
There are 2 Red risks to report - 
 

Ref Service Risk Title Residual 
Score 

CSDR006 
Children’s 
Services 
(Directorate) 

Failure to manage within budget impacts 
the financial position of the Service and 
its ability to provide services 

 
16 

CSCR002 
Children’s 
Social Care 

Demand for a Children’s Social Care 
Service continues to increase, leading to 
failure to manage within budget 

 
16 

 
Please note that variations in RAG risk scores should not be viewed purely as 
a reflection of the effectiveness of risk control activity - risk scoring is also 
influenced by the severity of risks associated with the different Services and 
their capacity to mitigate. Further details regarding the factors considered 
when scoring the risks and the mitigation actions being implemented are 
provided under Appendix 2. 
 
 
Insurance Team 
 

June 2020 Insurance Renewals 
The Insurance team completed renewal negotiations for Rochdale Council’s 
programme of insurance policies effective from 1st June 2020. At the outset of 
the process the Senior Insurance Officer collated Council asset values, 
information regarding services provided and relevant risk management details 
to be notified to our insurers. Renewal was agreed at increased premium rates 
caused by rising numbers of catastrophe losses across the UK public sector, 
and not caused by any deterioration in Rochdale’s own claims experience. Mild 
Winter weather conditions in 2019 and 2020 have contributed to a stable 
claims trend in recent years. The agreed Leader investment of £12.0m into 
carriageways and footways which began implementation in 2018 is anticipated 
to be a positive factor in minimising claims figures in future years. 
 
November 2019 Broker Tender 
The procurement tender for insurance broker services was completed in 
November 2019 – this was a collaborative GMCA contract with Manchester, 
Oldham and Bolton Councils. The contract was awarded to Gallagher 
Insurance Brokers, commencing on 1st November 2019. 
 
It has been calculated that alongside assurances on service standards the 
Council will benefit from combined broker fee and associated service charge 
savings of £51,000 over the possible 4 year duration of the contract. 

Page 90



 
9.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cyber Insurance Cover 
The Insurance team has successfully procured Cyber Insurance to provide 
cover for the costs, legal liability and response services required in the unlikely 
event of a future data breach or cyber-attack. 
 
Cyber insurance cover increases the Authority’s financial security, in addition 
to the already extensive information governance and digital security measures 
in place to protect data records. 
 
Riverside Retail Development Insurance Cover 
A Buildings and Liability insurance policy has been placed for the Riverside 
retail development effective from handover on 1st April 2020. Tenants have 
been provided with the security that insurance cover is in place in the event of 
any future insurable losses occurring. The services of asset managers have 
also been obtained to provide peace of mind during the Covid-19 lockdown 
circumstances and beyond. 
 
Reissue of the RBC Insurance Manual 
The Insurance Manual has been re-issued and been made available to all 
Council staff on the Rochdale BC intranet site. The manual provides an insight 
into the content of insurance policies, the responsibilities of managers to 
comply with policy conditions; and the procedures to be followed in the event 
of a claim. 
 
Performance 
A summary of the work completed by the Insurance Team from January 2020 

to March 2029 is set out below. 

 
The Insurance Team received a total of 137 new claims notifications during 
quarter 4 – split 99 Highways, 27 Motor, 6 Public Liability, 1 Employers Liability 
and 4 Others. The effect of the mild 2019/20 weather conditions on Highways 
claims can be seen when these figures are compared to 186 claims received in 
quarter 4 2017/18. 
 
A total of 84 claims were closed by the team during quarter 4 – split 59 
Highways, 10 Motor, 11 Public Liability, 3 Employers Liability and 1 Other. 
These claims will largely not be the same newly notified claims referred to 
above. The claims handling process can run over a period of months or years, 
and therefore the team are working on a combination of new and existing 
cases. 
 
The Claims Cost Mitigation tables below confirm the difference between final 
settled amounts for claims closed against the highest reserve amounts for the 
same losses during the claims handling process. These statistics are a useful 
measure of the level of challenge put forward by the Insurance Team through 
their investigations, liaison with the relevant Services, and joint-effort with 
solicitors to defend against legal proceedings. 
 
 
 

Page 91



 
 
 
 
 

a) Claims Cost Mitigation Table for 2019/20 Q4 
 

Month Claims Closed Cost 
Mitigation 

January 32 £127,881.03 

February 20 £359,487.73 

March 32 £278,359.27 

Total 84 £765,728.03 

 
b) Claims Cost Mitigation Table for Full 2019/20 Year 
 

Quarter Claims Closed Cost 
Mitigation 

Q1 101 £476,684.15 

Q2 116 £532,573.13 

Q3 75 £419,649.33 

Q4 84 £765,728.03 

Total 376 £2,194,634.64 

 
The tables show that the Insurance Team handled a total cost mitigation of 
£765,728.03 on settled claims costs during quarter 4, and an annual total of 
£2,027,038.09 for the 2019/20 year. Claims mitigation savings can be achieved 
for reasons such as the use of a Section 58 defence (under the Highways Act 
1980) to repudiate highways claims where the Council can prove reasonable 
measures have been taken to deal with defects, or where thorough 
investigations with Service teams provides evidence to repudiate or challenge 
general liability claims for negligent provision of social care services. 
 
Risk Management Plans for 2020/21 
1) Continue support to the Covid-19 programme management team. 
2) Contribute to the EU Exit planning process necessary as the December 

2020 deadline for a UK-EU trade deal approaches. 
3) Issue of a joint Rochdale BC / CCG Risk Management Policy to apply to all 

risks across the combined Council and CCG organisation. 
4) Continue to review the combined Risk Management and Insurance 

functions to identify further opportunities to increase effectiveness where 
we have shared objectives.  

5) Complete Risk Management self-assessments to assess quality of Service 
risk procedures. 

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
10. Not applicable. 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
11. If Risk Management recommendations are not implemented, the Council will 

Page 92



be exposed to the risks set out in the relevant Risk Management reports. 
These risks will be mitigated by completion of the actions agreed with 
management and summarised within this report.  
 

Consultation 

 
12. The risk controls or development action points arising from this report are 

agreed in consultation with senior management and officers within each 
Service area. 

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

 None  

 

For Further Information Contact: Martin Nixon, Tel: 01706925415, 
martin.nixon@rochdale.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 93



 

 

 

Appendix 1 
 

 

8 June 2020 
 

  

  

Wider Leadership Team - Corporate Risk Register 
 

    

       

        

 

 
  

 

CRR0001 - Failure to maintain or gaps within corporate governance lead to risk of litigation, fraud/ malpractice, poor decision making or judicial review, causing serious 
service and financial failure (Compliance/ Legal) - (Operational) 

 

Next Review Officer Risk Owner Risk Status    Impact  Likelihood  Score Risk Score Risk Review Date 

David Wilcock David Wilcock Active Inherent 4 4 16 
 

Residual 3 2 6 
 

 

1 Mar 2020 

Controls Control Owner Status  Adoption Date Review Date 

 *    CRR1007 Independent assurance provided by external assessors (Ofsted, Care Quality 
Commission etc.)    

Steve Rumbelow Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR1013 Information Governance Framework which supports compliance with all data 
control requirements is embedded 

John Rooney Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR1002 Code of Corporate Governance communicated, understood and followed David Wilcock Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR1004 Governance Board providing challenge to and co-ordination of all governance 
issues    

David Wilcock Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR1006 Independent assurance provided by External Audit    David Wilcock Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR1010 Contract procedure rules which are clear, understood and being followed David Wilcock Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR1011 Codes of Conduct for Members and Officers which are clear, understood and 
followed 

David Wilcock Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR1009 Scheme of delegation which is clear, understood and being followed Michael Garraway Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR1005 Independent assurance provided by Internal Audit    Ian Corbridge Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Jun 20 

 *    CRR1003 Risk Management Strategy embedded and supports all decision making    Ian Corbridge Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Jun 20 

 *    CRR1001 Oversight and challenge by an effective Audit and Governance Committee  Ian Corbridge Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Jun 20 

 *    CRR1008 Anti-fraud and Corruption Strategy communicated, understood and followed Ian Corbridge Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Jun 20 

 *    CRR1012 Performance Management system which promotes accountability and 
outcome monitoring is embedded 

John Rooney Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

             

 

P
age 94



CRR0002 - A catastrophic event and lack of organisational resilience leads to inability to deliver our services, to then support and protect the wider community and to rebuild 
the infrastructure (Operational) - (Operational) 

 

Next Review Officer Risk Owner Risk Status    Impact  Likelihood  Score Risk Score Risk Review Date 

John Rooney Mark Widdup Active Inherent 5 4 20 
 

Residual 4 3 12 
 

 

1 Mar 2020 

Controls Control Owner Status  Adoption Date Review Date 

 *    CRR2009 Review procedures for testing of ICT system to improve processes and 
resilience 

Mark Dalzell Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR2005 Emergency plan, refeshed annually, communicated and understood     Mark Dalzell Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR2006 Themed plans (i.e. rest centres, flooding, Turner Brothers site) for specific 
purposes    

Mark Dalzell Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR2007 Training, briefing and exercises carried out for Silver and Forward Incident 
officers 

Mark Dalzell Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR2008 Multi-agency resilience forum in place to debrief incidents and conduct 
exercises    

Mark Dalzell Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR2001 Corporate business continuity plan, refreshed and checked for accuracy 
annually    

Mark Dalzell Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR2002 Service level business continuity plans, refreshed and checked for accuracy 
quarterly    

Mark Dalzell Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR2004 Periodic corporate business continuity plan dry run exercises    Mark Dalzell Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR2003 Periodic training and briefing to service business continuity leads undertaken    Mark Dalzell Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR2010 Risk Management Strategy embedded and supports all decision making    Ian Corbridge Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Jun 20 

              

CRR0003 - Budget reductions required do not leave enough budget to deliver statutory services and to achieve balanced budget in 2018/19 and 2019/20 leading to a failure 
in legal duty (Strategic) - (Operational) 

 

Next Review Officer Risk Owner Risk Status    Impact  Likelihood  Score Risk Score Risk Review Date 

Julie Murphy Julie Murphy Active Inherent 4 4 16 
 

Residual 3 3 9 
 

 

30 Apr 2020 

Controls Control Owner Status  Adoption Date Review Date 

 *    CRR3005 Corporate Plan established which provides strategic direction for services    Steve Rumbelow Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 01 Apr 20 

 *    CRR3001 Medium Term Financial Strategy updated bi-annually and approved by 
Cabinet and Council    

Julie Murphy Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Apr 20 

 *    CRR3002 Regular reports to Wider Leadership, Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny, 
Council on budget position locally and nationally 

Julie Murphy Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Apr 20 

 *    CRR3004 Treasury Management Policy embedded and adhered to Julie Murphy Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Apr 20 

 *    CRR3007 s151 Officer Report presented to Council annually prior to budget setting    Julie Murphy Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Apr 20 

 *    CRR3009 Corporate approach to addressing budget challenges (offices and Members Julie Murphy Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Apr 20 

P
age 95



working together)    

 *    CRR3010 External audit financial resilience assessment    Julie Murphy Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Apr 20 

 *    CRR3003 Budget monitoring embedded which pro-actively highlights financial 
challenges    

Julie Murphy Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Apr 20 

 *    CRR3008 Risk Management Strategy embedded and supports all decision making    Ian Corbridge Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Jun 20 

 *    CRR3006 Organisational Development Strategy in place which aligns strategy, people 
and processes    

Rosemary Barker Control - In Place  24 Jun 15  

              

CRR0004  - Ineffective financial management and resilience leads to the Council significantly overspending the annual budget (Strategic) - (Operational)  

Next Review Officer Risk Owner Risk Status    Impact  Likelihood  Score Risk Score Risk Review Date 

Julie Murphy Julie Murphy Active Inherent 4 4 16 
 

Residual 3 2 6 
 

 

30 Apr 2020 

Controls Control Owner Status  Adoption Date Review Date 

 *    CRR4005 Corporate Plan established which provides strategic direction for services    Steve Rumbelow Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR4006 Organisational Development Strategy in place which aligns strategy, people 
and processes    

Rosemary Barker Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR4001 Medium Term Financial Strategy updated bi-annually and approved by 
Cabinet and Council    

Julie Murphy Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Apr 20 

 *    CRR4002 Regular reports to Wider Leadership, Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny, 
Council on budget position locally and nationally 

Julie Murphy Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Apr 20 

 *    CRR4004 Treasury Management Policy embedded and adhered to Julie Murphy Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Apr 20 

 *    CRR4007 s151 Officer Report presented to Council annually prior to budget setting    Julie Murphy Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Apr 20 

 *    CRR4009 Corporate approach to addressing budget challenges (officers and Members 
working together)    

Julie Murphy Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Apr 20 

 *    CRR4010 External audit financial resilience assessment    Julie Murphy Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Apr 20 

 *    CRR4003 Budget monitoring embedded which pro-actively highlights financial 
challenges    

Julie Murphy Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Apr 20 

 *    CRR4008 Risk Management Strategy embedded and supports all decision making    Ian Corbridge Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Jun 20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

             

P
age 96



CRR0005 - Failure of, or lack of compliance with, health and safety systems leads to harm to an individual and a corporate manslaughter/ homicide conviction (Compliance/ 
Legal) - (Operational) 

 

Next Review Officer Risk Owner Risk Status    Impact  Likelihood  Score Risk Score Risk Review Date 

 Neil Thornton Active Inherent 4 3 12 
 

Residual 4 2 8 
 

 

1 Mar 2020 

Controls Control Owner Status  Adoption Date Review Date 

 *    CRR5006 Member training regularly updated, fully attended and understood    Michael Garraway Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR5002 Learning and development provided to whole workforce, primarily through e-
learning    

Rosemary Barker Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR5003 Comprehensive health and well-being policies in place and adhered to    Rosemary Barker Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR5001 Corporate Health and Safety Policy is clear, understood and being followed    Rosemary Barker Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR5004 In house team of Health and Safety Advisers who link into the Central Health 
and Safety Committee    

Rosemary Barker Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR5005 Liaison with Health and Safety Executive to ensure risk and issues highlighted 
and addressed    

Rosemary Barker Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR5007 Risk Management Strategy embedded and supports all decision making    Ian Corbridge Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Jun 20 

              

CRR0006 - Risk that Council and Devolution  Manchester priorities are not fully aligned - (Operational)  

Next Review Officer Risk Owner Risk Status    Impact  Likelihood  Score Risk Score Risk Review Date 

Steve Rumbelow Steve Rumbelow Active Inherent 4 3 12 
 

Residual 4 2 8 
 

 

1 Mar 2020 

Controls Control Owner Status  Adoption Date Review Date 

 *    CRR6001 Chief Executive is a member of AGMA WLT (Meeting of GM Chief Executives)    Steve Rumbelow Control - In Place  14 Jul 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR6002 Leader is a member of formally constituted GM Combined Authority with other 
Council Leaders and Interim Mayor    

Steve Rumbelow Control - In Place  14 Jul 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR6003 Elected members from Rochdale BC sit on Scrutiny Panel    Steve Rumbelow Control - In Place  14 Jul 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR6004 Officer representation on working groups dealing with CA/AGMA/Devolution 
issues as appropriate    

Steve Rumbelow Control - In Place  14 Jul 15 1 Mar 20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

             

P
age 97



CRR0007 - Risk of a breakdown in community stability (Operational)                   - (Operational)  

Next Review Officer Risk Owner Risk Status    Impact  Likelihood  Score Risk Score Risk Review Date 

John Rooney Mark Widdup Active Inherent 4 4 16 
 

Residual 4 3 12 
 

 

1 Mar 2020 

Controls Control Owner Status  Adoption Date Review Date 

 *    CRR7003 Extensive partnerships developed and maintained enabling networking and 
intelligence sharing eg. Active citizens and multi-faith forums. 

Sajjad Miah Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR7004  Joint working with Greater Manchester authorities to monitor and mitigate 
risks     

Sajjad Miah Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR7007 Cohesion Hub and Consequence Management process in place Sajjad Miah Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR7008 Weekly tension monitoring and trigger plans in place Sajjad Miah Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    The partnership Consequence Management Group (CMG) exists to provide early 
identification and intervention on community tensions and develop positive community 
cohesion and diversionary activities to mitigate risks of escalation in tension. The CMG to 
inform and take direction from RBC and Partners command structure. 

Mark Dalzell Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR7002 Community Cohesion Pledge signed by elected Members and Community 
Representatives    

Mark Dalzell Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR7009 Risk Management Strategy embedded and supports all decision making    Ian Corbridge Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Jun 20 

              

CRR0008 - Risk of serious harm to or death of a child due to the act or omission by Council employees (Compliance/ Legal)           - (Operational)  

Next Review Officer Risk Owner Risk Status    Impact  Likelihood  Score Risk Score Risk Review Date 

Gail Hopper Gail Hopper Active Inherent 5 4 20 
 

Residual 5 3 15 
 

 

1 Mar 2020 

Controls Control Owner Status  Adoption Date Review Date 

 *    CRR8001 Local Safeguarding Children Board in place which provides robust challenge    Gail Hopper Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR8003 Regional Support and Challenge including Peer Reviews Gail Hopper Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR8004 Performance/ Quality Assurance Framework is fully embedded    Gail Hopper Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR8005 Ongoing and robust management of external/ commissioned service providers Gail Hopper Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR8006 Effective management oversight and supervision of staff    Gail Hopper Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR8009 Critical Incident Reporting Framework in place and embedded Gail Hopper Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR8010 Workforce Development Strategy - training and support provided to staff Gail Hopper Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR8011 Local Authority provides advice/ monitoring and training on safe practice in 
schools 

Gail Hopper Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR8002 Independent Ofsted inspections    Sandra Bowness Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

P
age 98



 *    CRR8007 Early Help Strategy is refreshed and re-launched    Sandra Bowness Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR8012 Risk Management Strategy embedded and supports all decision making    Ian Corbridge Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Jun 20 

              

CRR0009 - Risk of serious harm to or death of a vulnerable adult due to the act or omission by Council employees (Compliance Legal)  - (Operational)  

Next Review Officer Risk Owner Risk Status    Impact  Likelihood  Score Risk Score Risk Review Date 

 Sally McIvor Active Inherent 5 4 20 
 

Residual 5 3 15 
 

 

1 Mar 2020 

Controls Control Owner Status  Adoption Date Review Date 

 *    CRR9001 Adult Safeguarding Board in place which provides robust challenge    Sally McIvor Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR9008 Regional support and peer challenge     Sally McIvor Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR9004 PDRs, one-to-ones and supervision of staff, self assessment of practice 
standards applied across the service    

Steven Blezard Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR9005 Embed adult social care safeguarding policy to ensure worker expectations 
regarding safeguarding practice are clearly defined and communicated   

Steven Blezard Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR9006 Robust and regular safeguarding and case file audits    Steven Blezard Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR9002 Independent reviews by the Care Quality Commission (CQC)    Tracey Harrison Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR9007 Robust quality assurance/ contract management procedures Tracey Harrison Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR9010 Ongoing sharing of intelligence information with CQC and other partners Tracey Harrison Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR9011 Training strategy in place for the Service Steven Blezard Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR9012 Risk Management Strategy embedded and supports all decision making    Ian Corbridge Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Jun 20 

              

CRR0010 -  Failure to take opportunities for growth leading to a lack of investment in the Borough and lower levels of regeneration and prosperity       - (Operational)  

Next Review Officer Risk Owner Risk Status    Impact  Likelihood  Score Risk Score Risk Review Date 

John Searle John Searle Active Inherent 4 4 16 
 

Residual 3 3 9 
 

 

1 Mar 2020 

Controls Control Owner Status  Adoption Date Review Date 

 *    CRR10004 Asset Management Plan is established, monitored and regularly updated    Peter Gregory Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR10002 Oversight and challenge of major projects and decisions by Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee    

Mark Robinson Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR10003 Programme/ project management principles are applied consistently    Mark Robinson Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR10001 Medium Term Financial Plan is comprehensive and regularly updated    Julie Murphy Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Mar 20 

 *    CRR10006 Maximise opportunities for good news    Susan Ayres Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Jan 21 

P
age 99



 *    CRR10007 Early warning protocol agreed for identifying potential bad news Susan Ayres Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 1 Jan 21 

 *    CRR10005 Risk Management Strategy embedded and supports all decision making    Ian Corbridge Control - In Place  23 Jun 15 30 Jun 20 

              

              
  

 

 

P
age 100



  Q4 2019/20 High-Scoring Service Risks     

Risk ref Service Risk Risk Owner Impact Likelihood 
Residual Risk 

Score 

CSDR006 
Children’s Services 
(Directorate) 

Failure to manage within budget impacts the financial position of the 
Service and its ability to provide services 

Gail Hopper 4 4 16 

 Explain the main reasons for the high risk score? Locally, predicted pressures are being experienced as a result of an increase in demand for children’s social care services generally. 
Since April 2019 there has been a slight bucking of the regional trend as figures start to stabilise; however key indicators of the volume of work with very vulnerable children and their 
families remain high. There has been a small but significant reduction in the number of children subject to a child protection plan, care proceedings being initiated and the number of 
children cared for (has reduced by over thirty by the end of Quarter 3). However, numbers remain high compared with statistical neighbours. There continues to be a continuing increase 
in demand for children with special educational needs and / or disabilities and unaccompanied asylum seeking children. This reflects the picture both regionally and nationally. 

 What have been the significant controls implemented to mitigate this risk? A Business Case for increased resources in line with areas of increased demand in children’s social care has 
been agreed; this has been worked upon with Finance colleagues and has been considered at informal Cabinet, the ICB and has now been presented to Cabinet for a formal decision. A 
five year sustainability strategy has also been developed, with key components to increase placement sufficiency through innovation and market management. The strategy for 20/21 
has been fully funded and therefore not expecting an overspend in the next financial year, however, this was the assumption prior to Covid-19 and the impact of this pandemic is not yet 
fully understood. 

 Are any reductions in the risk score anticipated in the future? The Senior Leadership Team regularly considers budget pressures collectively and in their separate management 
meetings. There are monthly meetings with the Chief Executive, the S151 Officer and Director of Resources, as well as regular meetings with the Leader and Portfolio Holder. Following 
review of the Residual risk score at the end of Q4 it was decided that in the context of Covid-19 it would not be prudent to reduce the risk score at this time.   

 

Risk ref Service Risk Risk Owner Impact Likelihood 
Residual Risk 

Score 

CSCR002 Children’s Services 
Demand for a Children’s Social Care Service continues to increases, 
leading to failure to manage within budget 

Julia Hassall 4 4 16 

 Explain the main reasons for the high risk score?   The growing child population in borough and growing demand is causing increased budget pressures in children’s social care and in the 
additional needs service (SEND). 

 What have been the significant controls implemented to mitigate this risk? A five year sustainability strategy has been developed by reviewing and mapping levels of need and 
implications; reviewing the research and evidence base of what works; reviewing all children in external placements and working up a detailed investment strategy. This involves a 
Greater Manchester approach to implementing innovation programmes that have been successful elsewhere in the country. Progress is being made in Rochdale to develop these 
approaches, but will take time to deliver impact. However, as we have been implementing the No Wrong Door cultural changes during 2019/20 there has been a reduction in external 
placements – 6 residential; 14 independent fostering and 4 semi-independent living placements – the full year effect of these reductions would be circa £2m but Covid-19 is likely to 
impact on these projections. One of the areas we cannot control is the inward migration; see below. The Family Service Model (FSM) and approach has been developed to manage 
demand through co-ordinated multi-agency early help.  The FSM has been developed as part of the transformation programme and predicted deflections and mainstreaming have not 
been realised to date. Additional resource has been allocated in line with demand in Children’s Social Care. 

 Are any reductions in the risk score anticipated in the future? The sustainability strategy will over time support greater likelihood of managing demand within the designated budget. What 
the service is unable to predict is those demands emerging from children new to the authority. What is not known about these children is what level of social care needs they may present 
moving forward. The risk score cannot be reduced at this time until we have a better understanding of the impact of Covid-19. 

P
age 101


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Counter Fraud Prosecutions and Sanctions Policy
	Append. 1 for Counter Fraud Prosecutions and Sanctions Policy
	Append. 2 for Counter Fraud Prosecutions and Sanctions Policy
	Equality Impact Assessment Action Plan 2020/21


	7 Internal Audit Quarter 4 Report 2019/20
	8 Internal Audit Annual Fraud Report 2019/20
	Append. 1 for Internal Audit Annual Fraud Report 2019/20

	9 Internal Audit Annual Report 2019/20
	Append. 1 for Internal Audit Annual Report 2019/20
	Append. 2 for Internal Audit Annual Report 2019/20
	Append. 3 for Internal Audit Annual Report 2019/20

	10 Risk Management Annual Report 2019/20
	Append. 1 for Risk Management Annual Report 2019/20
	Append. 2 for Risk Management Annual Report 2019/20


